
Latrobe Community Health Service

Annual Report
2021-
2022

Incorporating the Strategic Plan 2017 - 2022 review



2  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22

All Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the traditional 
custodians on whose ancestral lands our offices are situated.

To Elders – past, present and emerging – and their ongoing 
connections to country, and to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples and communities across Australia.

We acknowledge

We recognise and pay 
our respects
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About us

Purpose

Vision

Our values

Delivering services that improve the health and social  
wellbeing of Australians.

We’re inspired by a vision of strong, vibrant communities, 
where people enjoy good health and healthy lifestyles.

Providing excellent customer service
Actively assist our customers and clients to receive the quality 
services they require in a professional and courteous manner.

Creating a successful environment
Contribute to making Latrobe Community Health Service a 
positive, respectful, innovative and healthy place to be. 

Always providing a personal best
Embrace a ‘can do’ attitude and go the extra distance when 
required.

Acting with the utmost integrity
Practice the highest ethical standards at all times.

Better health, better 
lifestyles, stronger  
communities.



6  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22

Board Chair and CEO’s statement

Latrobe Community Health Service is a vastly different 
organisation compared to five years ago. In 2017-18, we 
employed 632 staff. At the end of 2021-22, we are an 
organisation of 1,400 employees. We have welcomed Link 
Health and Community into the fold, and opened new offices 
in Sydney. We operated from nine sites in 2017-18. Today, we 
operate from 70 sites across regional Victoria, Melbourne, and 
Sydney, and we deliver more than 100 different services.

But it’s not just our staff numbers and bricks and mortar that tell 
our story.

There’s a saying that most people overestimate what they can 
do in a day, and underestimate what they can do in a year. 
Organisations are no different in that regard. 

In 2017-18, we set out to:

1. �Deliver a genuine integration of primary and community 
health services in Gippsland.

2. Grow our service footprint across Australia.

3. Innovate to improve client outcomes.

4. �Use client outcomes to drive improvements across  
our services.

We have established three multidisciplinary hubs in Gippsland – 
including a dedicated children and youth team – to allow people 
to access a team of health clinicians at the same location, often 

in the same appointment. Our service integration is leading to 
better collaboration between staff from different disciplines 
and better outcomes for our clients. For example, our dietitians 
and nurses often work alongside the headspace Morwell team 
to simultaneously help young people with their mental and 
physical wellbeing. In 2021-22, the team started a new group 
program where young people could unleash their creative flair 
while a nurse and counsellor answered their questions about 
health, sexuality and stress. This program has been one of our 
most engaging to-date.

We partnered with the National Disability Insurance Agency 
(NDIA) to deliver the National Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS). The NDIS was in its infancy in 2017, and we are proud 
to have helped roll the scheme out to Australians with disability, 
their families and carers, across Victoria and Sydney. When we 
merged Link Health and Community into Latrobe Community 
Health Service, our NDIS footprint expanded even further. Today, 
we support more than 71,000 Australians with disability and 
children with developmental delay.

We have fostered a culture of innovation. We created an 
innovation framework that outlines our approach to testing and 
trying new ideas, and employed an Innovation Projects Lead 
who helps bring our new ideas to life. In 2021-22, we trialled 
the employment of a non-dispensing community pharmacist 
in our chronic disease management team. The pharmacist 
helped clients using multiple medications several times a day, to 

The financial year 2021-22 marks the end of Latrobe Community Health Service’s current 
five-year strategic plan. Annual reports, by their nature, are retrospective. But the end of 
our strategic plan adds another reason for reflection.

Ben Leigh
Chief Executive Officer

Judith Walker
Board Chairperson
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understand and manage the risks of their medication use. Over 
six months, the pharmacist supported 38 people, all of whom 
told us they’d like the service to continue. We are recruiting an 
ongoing permanent position, with plans to expand the role.

We are measuring five client outcomes consistently across 15 
different services. Measuring outcomes tells us whether the 
services we provide have a genuine impact on the people we 
support. We are asking clients: did we help to improve your 
health? Do you feel better than you did before? We are using 
this information to understand our strengths, and identify 
improvement opportunities. We now train our NDIS staff on 
how to develop SMART goals with participants to ensure their 
goals are specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timely. 
More than 75 percent of NDIS participants older than seven 
are achieving the goals they set. On average, 86 percent of 
families with children younger than seven agree the services we 
link them into, along with their NDIS plans, are helping them 
achieve their goals.

Over the past five years, Latrobe Community Health Service has 
evolved and grown with purpose. But importantly, our DNA has 
remained the same. We have remained true to our vision: better 
health, better lifestyles, and stronger communities. Our values 
of excellent customer service, creating a successful environment, 
providing a personal best, and acting with the utmost integrity 
have guided our day-to-day activities. Our vision and values 
have underpinned all we do, and all we have achieved.

As we farewell the past financial year, we get ready to begin a 
new five-year strategic plan for 2022-27. This plan is available 
to download now from our website. Our values will continue to 
be our compass as we look to build on the great progress we’ve 
made. Our new priorities reflect the current and future needs 
of the communities we serve. From 2022-23, we will set out to 
strengthen community health, enable sustainable growth, grow 
a fit-for-purpose workforce, and partner for comprehensive 
care.

While our Board membership remained steady over 2021-22, 
we would like to welcome Tracey Tobias who was elected to the 
Board as a Director in October 2021. Tracey is an experienced 
healthcare executive with strong clinical and corporate 
governance skills. We would also like to welcome Janet Nelson 
who joined the Board Nominations Committee as a non-Director 
Member in February 2022. Janet has served on numerous 
Boards in Australia and the United States, and brings a strong 
understanding of the skills Boards require.

Our organisational success in implementing the 2017-22 
strategic plan is due in large part to our staff and volunteers. 
They demonstrate our organisational values on a daily basis. 
They epitomise community health, and we thank each and every 
one of you for the job you do. Thank you also to our valued 
community and clients. Your support remains our inspiration at 
Latrobe Community Health Service; you are the reason we do 
what we do.

Ben Leigh		  Judith Walker
Chief Executive Officer	 Board Chairperson

Number of staff Number of sites Total revenue Home Care PackagesNDIS service areas

	 2017 	 2022

	 632	 1408

	 2017 	 2022

	 9	 70

	 2017 	 2022

	 $96.1m 	 $169.5m

	 2017 	 2022

	 1	 10

	 2017 	 2022

147% growth

Our growth from 2017 - 2022
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Financial summary

Latrobe Community Health Service delivered a net surplus of $6.4 million and retained 
a strong financial position in 2021-22. The financial ratios and cash position remained 
healthy and within financial strategy benchmarks during the year. 

Total revenue increased by 10.6 percent to $169.5 million.  
Commonwealth funding increased by 12.2 percent to $114.3 
million and now represents 67.4 percent of operating income 
received. This is primarily the result of revenue from our Home 
Care Packages increasing by 40 percent to $33.3 million. 

Operating expenditure increased by 9.1 percent ($13.6 million) 
to $163.1 million. This was principally due to an additional $7.1 
million being spent on Brokerage Client Services directly relating to 
the increase in Home Care Packages noted.

*The main components making up ‘Program Administration’ costs are medical supplies, staff training, information technology, consortium payments and maintenance.

1. �Department of Health and Department of Families,  
Fairness and Housing

2. �Commonwealth Government
3. Other
4. Client fees
5. Interest

1. �Employee benefits
2. Brokerage client services
3. Contract labour
4. Depreciation
5. Motor vehicle costs
6. Administration costs
7. �Utilities

Total revenue 2021-22

3

4 1
5

2

Total expenditure 2021-2022

6

7
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Net results

				    2021-22	 2020-21	 2019-20	 2018-19	 2017-18	 2016-17	 2015-16	 -

				    ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)

What we receive - revenue	  	 169.5 	  153.3 	  116.4 	  117.7 	  96.1 	  62.4 	  49.7 	

What we spent - expenses	  	 163.1 	  149.5 	  113.9 	  105.3 	  86.1 	  54.5 	  45.8			 

	Operating result for the year	  	 6.4 	  3.7 	  2.5 	  12.4 	  10.0 	  7.8 	  4.0	

Plus Link merger		   	 -	 10.6 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -				 

	Plus capital grants received	  	 0.0 	  -   	  0.0 	  0.1 	  2.5 	  2.0 	  0.9	

Net result for the year			   6.4  	 14.3 	  2.5 	  12.5 	  12.5 	  9.8 	  4.9

Cash flow including financial assets

				    2021-22	 2020-21	 2019-20	 2018-19	 2017-18	 2016-17	 2015-16	

-				    ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)

Cash flow from operating activities	  	 9.9 	  26.9 	  11.7 	  21.5 	  16.5 	  12.3 	  6.4 

Cash flow from investing activities		   (15.5)	  4.3 	  (2.6)	  (4.6)	  (6.1)	  (2.1)	  (2.5)

Cash flow from financing activities	  	 (4.8)	  (4.3)	  (3.5)	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 		 85.0 	  58.1 	  52.4 	  35.5 	  25.1 	 25.1	 14.8
of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end 		  74.6 	  85.0 	  58.1 	  52.4 	  35.5 	  25.1 	  14.8 
of period 			 

Assets and liabilities 

Latrobe Community Health Service’s total assets decreased by $4.3 million which related to our right of use assets decreasing as we 
progress closer to the end of our facility leases. It should also be noted that our cash reduced by $10.4 million as a result of purchasing 
an additional facility and therefore a corresponding increase in our fixed assets. 

Liabilities decreased by $9.4 million. This consists of a $3.3 million decrease in unexpended grants and income received in advance. In 
addition to this, there was also a $5.6 million decrease in Lease Liability. 

Assets and liabilities

				    2021-22	 2020-21	 2019-20	 2018-19	 2017-18	 2016-17	 2015-16	

-				    ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)	 ($m)

What we own - assets	  		  141.9 	  146.2 	  98.8 	  84.7 	  68.2 	  51.4 	  37.6 

	What we owe - liabilities	  	 54.8 	  64.2 	  41.7 	  21.7 	  17.7 	  13.5 	  9.0 

NET ASSETS	  		  87.1 	  82.0 	  57.1 	  63.0 	  50.4 	  37.9 	  28.5

Working capital ratio							   

Current assets / current liabilities	  	 1.69 	  1.79 	  2.13 	  2.88 	  2.54 	  2.33 	  2.26 

Debt ratio							    

Total liabilities / total assets		  38.61%	 44.19%	 42.48%	 35.56%	 26.01%	 26.27%	 24.03%
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Latrobe Community Health Service is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001  
as a Company Limited by Guarantee and is regulated by the Australian Charities and  
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. It is also registered with the Victorian Government  
as a community health service. It is governed by a skills-based Board of up to nine directors 
who are elected by Latrobe Community Health Service members or appointed by the Board.

Board and governance
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Professor Judith Walker 
BA (Hons), GradDip Ed, PhD, FACE, AICD.

Board Chairperson 

Chairperson since October 2019; 
Director since July 2012; Chair of the Board 
Governance Committee; Member of the Board 
Community Investment Committee.

Judi has had a long, satisfying and amazing career in 
higher education leadership, academic and public sector 
governance, and strategic policy development across 
Victoria and Tasmania. Currently, she holds a part-time 
position as Professor Rural Health in the School of 
Medicine, University of Tasmania where she works with 
final year medical students building their research capacity. 
She recently participated in the University’s Medical 
Program re-accreditation. She holds honorary professorial 
positions at Monash and Federation universities. As 
Principal Co-Investigator of the Hazelwood Long Term 
Health Study, Judi investigated the health impact of the 
2014 Hazelwood open cut brown coal mine fire in the 
Latrobe Valley, Victoria. The team developed a unique 
multidisciplinary, inter-institutional research program based 
on strong engagement with the local community. Judi led 
the Older Persons Research Stream and was responsible 
for the study’s community engagement and governance 
activities. Judi is the inaugural Board Chair of Health 
Consumers Tasmania and sits on a number of state and 
national reference groups and committees.

Placido Cali 
B. Bus (Accounting), Grad.Dip Business 
Administration, Chartered Accountant 
ICAA, MAICD. 

Director since 2017;  
Chair of the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee; Member of the Board Governance  
Committee.

Placido has extensive experience in the areas of finance, 
strategic development, and corporate growth. He has held 
senior roles in pharmaceutical, primary health, and technology 
organisations. Placido has helped companies grow from local 
organisations to nationally-recognised brands. 

Stelvio Vido  
BCom, LLB, MBA, GAICD.

Deputy Board Chairperson 

Director since 2018;  
Deputy Chair; Chair of the Board Quality and Safety 
Committee; Member of the Board Governance 
Committee.

Stelvio is an experienced Director with more than 20 years’ 
Board experience across a range of sectors including health 
and human services, group training and employment services, 
community legal aid and TAFE. 

He also has extensive executive experience having worked 
in senior roles in community organisations, management 
consulting, local government and commercial media. His most 
recent executive role was CEO of Spectrum Migrant Resource 
Centre. Since then he has focused on governance roles in ‘for 
purpose’ organisations.

Stelvio is a Director of Sexual Health Victoria, Windana Drug 
and Alcohol Recovery Ltd. and Lengo Football Academy.
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Nathan Voll 
BCom, GradCert Bus Mgt, FCPA, MBA, 

FAICD.

Director since March 2016;  
Chair of the Board Nominations 
Committee; Member of the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee.

Nathan has more than 25 years of experience in the 
private and public sector in management, consulting 
and finance / accounting. He is the Regional Finance 
Manager for South Eastern Victoria with the Department 
of Education and Training. He previously worked as the 
General Manager Corporate Services at the Department of 
Justice and Regulation.

Nathan has experience in the healthcare sector serving 
on the Board of Latrobe Health Insurance since 2011 and 
as Director of West Gippsland Healthcare Group (WGHG) 
for six years. He is also a member of the Latrobe Health 
Risk and Investment Committee and Chair of the Audit 
Committee. Nathan is a Director of the Gippsland Primary 
Health Network, the chair of their Audit Risk and Finance 
Committee, a former Director and member of the WGHG 
Audit Committee and Clinical Governance Committee 
and was previously on the Faculty of Education Board at 
Monash University. Nathan is a Fellow of CPA Australia 
(Certified Practising Accountant) and a Fellow of the 
AICD.

Tracey Tobias 
Cert Critical Care, Dip Allied Health 
Science Nursing, BA (SocSc), GradCert 
Leadership & Catholic Culture, GradCert 
Care of the Critically Ill Child, MHSM. 

Director since 2021;  
Member of the Board Quality and Safety Committee.

Tracey is an experienced and versatile healthcare executive 
with a successful background in executive leadership 
and management roles in public and private healthcare 
settings. Tracey has significant exposure to the unique 
needs of various Victorian regions including Gippsland.

Throughout her career she has gained experience in acute 
care, aged care, community care, mental healthcare, and 
drug and alcohol services. Tracey has strong clinical and 
corporate governance skills and is a values-driven leader. 

Joanne Booth  
Cert General Nursing, Cert Governing 
Non-Profit Excellence, AdvCert 
Nursing, BA, GradCert Internal Audit, 
GradDip Occupational Health, MPH, 
GAICD. 

Director since 2017;  
Member of the Board Quality and Safety Committee; 
Chair of the Board Community Investment 
Committee.

Joanne is committed to improving health and social 
outcomes for disadvantaged people and communities. 
Joanne has a background in public health and policy and 
has worked extensively in the health, public and  
not-for-profit sectors, and operates a governance and risk 
management consultancy. 

Joanne has held multiple Board and committee 
appointments in the Victorian health and water sectors. 
Her current appointments include: Independent Chair of 
the Nominations Committee Western Victoria Primary 
Health Network, Independent Member of the VicHealth 
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, and Independent 
Member of the Latrobe City Council Audit Committee.

Mark Biggs 
BA (SocSc), Grad Dip Counselling 
Psychology. 

Director since February 2014; 
Member of the Board Community 
Investment Committee.

Mark has an extensive management career in the primary 
health and community services sector including child 
protection, youth, disability, occupational rehabilitation 
and project management. 

He has expertise in strategic planning, policy, risk and 
business management, and is skilled in governance, 
quality assurance and compliance. Mark is on the Board 
of Lyrebird Village for the Aged. Mark was a Director of 
Latrobe Regional Hospital for nine years holding positions 
of Deputy Chair and Audit Chair. He was also a Director 
of the Gippsland Primary Health Network (GPHN) Board. 
Mark served as Latrobe Community Health Service Board 
Chairperson from 2016-2019.
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LLB, BA (Political Science), GAICD

Board Director since 2018; Member of the Board Quality 
and Safety Committee; Member of the Board Community 
Investment Committee.

Murray is an experienced commercial lawyer and government 
executive with extensive experience in commercial law, 
administrative law, contract management, procurement and 
compliance. From 2010 until 2014, he was employed by 
the Department of Health and Human Services undertaking 
roles as the Director of the Victorian Bushfire and Flood 
Appeal Funds, Principal Risk Advisor and Acting Director 
Contract Management and Procurement Branch. Prior to this 
Murray was a senior solicitor in the Victorian Government 
Solicitor’s Office and also developed policy, legislation and 
Ministerial Orders at Consumer Affairs Victoria. He worked 
in private practice as a Barrister and Solicitor for Martin, 
Irwin & Richards Lawyers in Mildura from 2004 until 2007. 
Recently, he managed the Commercial and Property Law 
Division of the Department of Education and Early Childhood 
Development, and he has served on the Board of the 
Gippsland Primary Health Network for the past three years.

B.Com, GAICD, FIML, Grad Dip Organisation Change and 
Development

Board Director since 2019; Member of the Board 
Governance Committee; Chair of the Board Nominations 
Committee.

Bernadette is the former Chief Executive of the Geelong 
Chamber of Commerce and previously operated a successful 
recruitment and human resources company, growing it from 
a regional start-up business to operating internationally for 
multinational clients and joint ventures in Hong Kong and 
Singapore. She has a strong commercial and entrepreneurial 
background with skills in business development and 
marketing, brand management, strategic planning, human 
resources, change management, government relations, 
stakeholder engagement and media. Bernadette currently has 
several Victorian Government Ministerial Board appointments 
including Trustee of the Kardinia Park Stadium Trust, Chair 
of the Kardinia Park Advisory Committee and Trustee of the 
Geelong Cemeteries Trust. She is also a member of the Telstra 
Victorian Regional Advisory Council. Bernadette previously 
served as Chair of the Victorian Small Business Ministerial 
Council, Chair of the Geelong Tech School Committee, Board 
Member of G21 Geelong Region Alliance and Deputy Chair 
of the Committee for Geelong.

Murray Bruce Bernadette Uzelac

12  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2020-21

Murray Bruce 
LLB, BA (Political Science), GAICD.

Director since 2018;  
Member of the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee; Member of the Board  
Nominations Committee. 

Murray is an experienced Director, commercial lawyer 
and government executive. He has extensive Board 
and governance experience with expertise in strategic 
planning, risk management, commissioning, change 
management and policy development. Murray has held 
senior roles at the Department of Health and Human 
Services, including as the Director of the Victorian Bushfire 
and Flood Appeal Funds from 2010 to 2014. 

Prior to this Murray was a Senior Solicitor in the Victorian 
Government Solicitor’s Office and also developed policy, 
legislation and Ministerial Orders at Consumer Affairs 
Victoria. He started his career working in private practice 
as a Barrister and Solicitor for Martin, Irwin & Richards 
Lawyers in Mildura from 2004-2007. Recently, he was 
Director of the Commercial and Property Law Division 
at the Department of Education and Early Childhood 
Development, and he has served on the Board of the 
Gippsland Primary Health Network for the past seven 
years.

Bernadette Uzelac 
BCom, GradDip Organisation Change and 
Development, FIML, GAICD. 

Director since 2019;  
Member of the Board Governance 
Committee; Member of the Board Community 
Investment Committee.

Bernadette is the former Chief Executive of the Geelong 
Chamber of Commerce. She previously operated a 
successful recruitment and human resources company, 
growing it from a regional start-up business to an 
international organisation for multinational clients and 
joint ventures in Hong Kong and Singapore. She has a 
strong commercial and entrepreneurial background with 
skills in business development and marketing, brand 
management, strategic planning, human resources, 
change management, government relations, stakeholder 
engagement and media. 

Bernadette has several Victorian Government Ministerial 
Board appointments including Trustee of the Kardinia 
Park Stadium Trust, Chair of the Kardinia Park Advisory 
Committee and Trustee of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust. 
She is also a member of the Telstra Victorian Regional 
Advisory Council. Bernadette previously served as Chair 
of the Victorian Small Business Ministerial Council, Chair 
of the Geelong Tech School Committee, Board Member 
of G21 Geelong Region Alliance, and Deputy Chair of the 
Committee for Geelong.
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LLB, BA (Political Science), GAICD

Board Director since 2018; Member of the Board Quality 
and Safety Committee; Member of the Board Community 
Investment Committee.

Murray is an experienced commercial lawyer and government 
executive with extensive experience in commercial law, 
administrative law, contract management, procurement and 
compliance. From 2010 until 2014, he was employed by 
the Department of Health and Human Services undertaking 
roles as the Director of the Victorian Bushfire and Flood 
Appeal Funds, Principal Risk Advisor and Acting Director 
Contract Management and Procurement Branch. Prior to this 
Murray was a senior solicitor in the Victorian Government 
Solicitor’s Office and also developed policy, legislation and 
Ministerial Orders at Consumer Affairs Victoria. He worked 
in private practice as a Barrister and Solicitor for Martin, 
Irwin & Richards Lawyers in Mildura from 2004 until 2007. 
Recently, he managed the Commercial and Property Law 
Division of the Department of Education and Early Childhood 
Development, and he has served on the Board of the 
Gippsland Primary Health Network for the past three years.

B.Com, GAICD, FIML, Grad Dip Organisation Change and 
Development

Board Director since 2019; Member of the Board 
Governance Committee; Chair of the Board Nominations 
Committee.

Bernadette is the former Chief Executive of the Geelong 
Chamber of Commerce and previously operated a successful 
recruitment and human resources company, growing it from 
a regional start-up business to operating internationally for 
multinational clients and joint ventures in Hong Kong and 
Singapore. She has a strong commercial and entrepreneurial 
background with skills in business development and 
marketing, brand management, strategic planning, human 
resources, change management, government relations, 
stakeholder engagement and media. Bernadette currently has 
several Victorian Government Ministerial Board appointments 
including Trustee of the Kardinia Park Stadium Trust, Chair 
of the Kardinia Park Advisory Committee and Trustee of the 
Geelong Cemeteries Trust. She is also a member of the Telstra 
Victorian Regional Advisory Council. Bernadette previously 
served as Chair of the Victorian Small Business Ministerial 
Council, Chair of the Geelong Tech School Committee, Board 
Member of G21 Geelong Region Alliance and Deputy Chair 
of the Committee for Geelong.

Murray Bruce Bernadette Uzelac
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Board committees

The work of the Board is supported by five Board 
committees:

• Audit and Risk

• Quality and Safety

• Governance

• Nominations

• Community Investment

Board Audit and Risk Committee

The purpose of the Board Audit and Risk Committee is to assist 
the Latrobe Community Health Service Board to discharge its 
responsibility to exercise due care, diligence and skill.

The terms of reference relate to:

• reporting financial information to users of financial reports

• applying accounting policies

• �the independence of Latrobe Community Health Service’s 
external auditors

• the effectiveness of the internal and external audit functions

• financial management

• internal control systems

• risk management

• organisational performance management

• �Latrobe Community Health Service business policies and 
practices

• �complying with Latrobe Community Health Service’s 
constitutional documentation and material contracts

• �complying with applicable laws and regulations, standards and 
best practice guidelines.

The committee includes two non-Director Members:

Tanya James

BA (PoliSci), MSA, CPA, GAICD.

Tanya is an experienced management consultant and corporate 
finance executive working previously for global firms such as 
Deloitte and Carlson Companies and their subsidiaries. She was 
an external auditor for Deloitte & Touche in the US and Russia 
and is currently working with the Department of Education and 
Training Victoria. Tanya held a non-Executive Director position on 
the Women’s Cancer Resource Centre’s Board in the USA, and 
was a Director and chaired the International Service Committee 
for the Rotary Club of Orono (USA). Tanya previously chaired 
the Finance Committee for Brighton Secondary College and has 
served as a College Councillor and Treasurer. She is a GAICD.

Rob Setina

BComm, LLB, GradDip Applied Science, MBA, GAICD.

Rob is a senior leader with more than 20 years of experience 
in both the private and public sectors, and across business 
transformations and information technology, including 
consulting. Rob is a skilled innovator and uses technology, 
workforce mix, practical thinking, and empowerment as enablers 
to drive business transformation.

Board Quality and Safety Committee

The purpose of the Board Quality and Safety Committee is to 
assist the Latrobe Community Health Service Board to maintain 
systems by which the Board, managers and clinicians share 
responsibility and are held accountable for patient or client care, 
minimising risk to consumers, and continuously monitoring 
and improving the quality of clinical care (Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards).

The committee also ensures Latrobe Community Health 
Service’s quality and safety systems will support the 
implementation of the four key principles of clinical 
governance, which are:

• �Build a culture of trust and honesty through open disclosure in 
partnership with consumers and community.

• Foster organisational commitment to continuous improvement.

• Establish rigorous monitoring, reporting and response systems.

• �Evaluate and respond to key aspects of organisational 
performance.

The Quality and Safety Committee is informed by the work of 
two staff committees:

• Occupational Health and Safety Committee.

• Clinical Governance Advisory Committee.

The committee includes two non-Director Members:

Kaye Borgelt

AssDip Medical Record Administration, GradCert Management of 
Organisational Change, MHSC, HIMAA, GAICD.

Kaye has more than 30 years’ experience working in rural 
public health services. Over her 20 years at West Wimmera 
Health Service, Kaye was the Director of Health Information 
Services, Executive Director of Corporate and Quality Services, 
and Executive Director of Primary and Preventative Health. She 
has a depth of experience in quality and safety and primary and 
preventative health, including meeting the needs of culturally 
and linguistically diverse communities in her catchment areas. 
Her new services program was shortlisted as a finalist in the 
2016 Victorian Public Healthcare Awards – ‘Excellence in 
CALD Health’. In 2018-19, Kaye worked as a Volunteer Health 
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The Board Quality and Safety Committee includes two 
non-Board Directors:

Kaye Borgelt (BQSC)

GAICD, Master of Health Sciences (HIM), Grad. Cert 
Management of Organisational Change, Assoc. Dip Medical 
Record Administration, HIMAA

Kaye has more than 30 years of experience working in rural 
public health services. Over her 20 years at West Wimmera 
Health Service, Kaye was the Director of Health Information 
Services, Executive Director of Corporate and Quality Services, 
and Executive Director of Primary and Preventative Health. She 
has a depth of experience in quality and safety and primary and 
preventative health, including meeting the needs of culturally 
and linguistically diverse communities in her catchment areas 
resulting in her new services program being shortlisted as 
a finalist in the 2016 Victorian Public Healthcare Awards – 
“Excellence in CALD Health”. In 2018-19 Kaye worked as a 
Volunteer Health Information Manager in the Pacific Island 
nation of Tuvalu and is now employed as a Health Data Analyst 
at the Gippsland Primary Health Network (GPHN).

Petra Bovery-Spencer (BQSC)

B.A Science (physiotherapy), Grad Cert Management

Petra is a qualified physiotherapist with management 
experience in the health industry across a number of sectors, 
private and public. She is a former Senior Program Advisor at 
the Department of Health and Human Services and a former 
Manager and Acting Executive Director of Latrobe Community 
Health Service in the Primary Health directorate (ten years), 
including experience on the Clinical Governance Committee. 
Petra has been actively involved in many committees focused 
on improving the services and outcomes for those living and 
working in rural communities and is committed to ensuring 
people in rural and remote communities have equitable access 
to health services and improved health outcomes. She has a 
particular interest in the innovative development of workforce 
and service models that deliver evidence-based services. 

In 2020-21, the Board Quality and Safety Committee was also 
informed by the work of Latrobe Community Health Service’s 
Consumer and Community Participation Committee. The 
committee facilitated consumer or community representative 
feedback to the organisation to influence health services, policy, 
systems and service reform from the consumer perspective.

This included: 

•  providing a consumer and community member perspective 
that reflects their health journey and the collective experience 
of health consumers and community members

•  helping the organisation to think about things from a consumer 
perspective by raising consumer concerns and views

•  providing broader community feedback to inform system and 
service level improvements

•  engagement with formal and informal consumer and 
community networks.

The committee’s membership consisted of four community 
representatives and three Latrobe Community Health Service 
staff members. The community representatives were:

•  Bec Taylor

•  Peter Corser

•  Bev Mason (resigned in January 2021)

•  Janet O’Keeffe (resigned in January 2021).

Our Consumer and Community Participation Committee met 
twice during 2020-21. In 2021-22 the committee will transition 
to a Client and Family Advisory Council, with our existing 
members invited to join the steering group for the new council.

Board Governance Committee

The role of the Board Governance Committee is to assist and 
advise the Board to fulfil its responsibilities to the members of 
Latrobe Community Health Service on:

•  matters relating to the composition, structure and operation 
of the Board and its committees

•  matters relating to CEO selection and performance

•  remuneration

•  other matters as required by the Board.
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Information Manager in the Pacific Island nation of Tuvalu and 
is now employed as a Health Data Analyst at the Gippsland 
Primary Health Network (GPHN). In 2021 Kaye was appointed 
as Deputy Chair of the Gippsland Centre Against Sexual Assault 
(GCASA) Board of Directors.

Petra Bovery-Spencer

BSc (Physiotherapy), GradCert Management.

Petra qualified as a physiotherapist, working in various clinical 
roles, before taking on leadership and management positions. 
She has extensive experience in the health industry in senior 
positions across private and public sectors as well as  
not-for-profit. With a particular interest in the delivery of safe 
and effective services for those living and working in rural 
communities, Petra is committed to ensuring those communities 
have equitable access to health services and improved health 
outcomes. Petra has a particular interest in the innovative 
development of workforce and service models that deliver safe, 
evidence-based services.

The Board Quality and Safety Committee is also informed by 
the work of Latrobe Community Health Service’s Customer 
Voice Group. The committee facilitates consumer or community 
representative feedback to the organisation to influence health 
services, policy, systems and service reform from the consumer 
perspective. 

This includes:

• �Providing a consumer and community member perspective 
that reflects their health journey and the collective experience 
of health consumers and community members.

• �Helping the organisation to think about things from a 
consumer perspective by raising consumer concerns and 
views.

• �Providing broader community feedback to inform system and 
service level improvements.

• �Engagement with formal and informal consumer and 
community networks.

Board Governance Committee

The role of the Board Governance Committee is to assist 
and advise the Board to fulfil its responsibilities to the 
members of Latrobe Community Health Service on:

• �Matters relating to the composition, structure and operation 
of the Board and its Committees.

• Matters relating to CEO selection and performance.

• Remuneration.

• Other matters as required by the Board.

Board Nominations Committee

The Board Nominations Committee provides advice and 
recommendations to the Board on specified matters as set out 
in the Latrobe Community Health Service Constitution. These 
include conducting searches for Directors, reviewing elected 
and appointed nominations for validity, providing advice to the 
Board on the prevailing skills matrix, and consulting with the 
Board regarding preferred candidates.

The committee includes two non-Director Members:

John Guy, OAM JP

GradDip. Personnel Admin, Latrobe Community Health Service 
Director September 1997-2018, Chairperson 2002-04 and 2008-16.

John spent 35 years with the State Electricity Commission of 
Victoria, six years on the Morwell Shire / City Council (three 
consecutive years as Mayor); was Chairman of the Latrobe 
Regional Commission; and Chairman of Commissioners of 
Wellington Shire during the amalgamation process. He is a 
Justice of the Peace (JP), President of the Central Gippsland 
Branch of the Justice Association, a volunteer with the Office 
of the Public Advocate, Independent Third Person Program 
and a volunteer with the Youth Referral and Independent 
Person Program. John is also Chair of Advance Morwell Inc. 
(life member) and a member of the Latrobe City International 
Relations Committee.



16  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22

Board Nominations Committee

The Board Nominations Committee provides advice and 
recommendations to the Board on specified matters as set 
out in the Latrobe Community Health Service Constitution. 
These include conducting searches for board directors, 
reviewing elected and appointed nominations for validity, 
providing advice to the Board on the prevailing skills matrix and 
consulting with the Board regarding preferred candidates.

The committee includes two non-Board Directors:

Angela Hutson

FAICD, B. Arts, Masters Organisational Leadership, Dip 
Frontline Management, Dip Education, Grad. Dip Business 
in Entrepreneurship and Innovation, Grad. Cert Enterprise 
Management

Angela served on the Board of Bairnsdale Regional Health 
Service for 17 years and was Board Chair for six years. She 
is currently a Board Director of Workways Australia, East 
Gippsland Water, TAFE Gippsland and GunaiKurnai Traditional 
Owner Land Management Board. Angela has a depth of 
experience in establishing skills matrices, developing Board 
capability profiles, the recruitment and shortlisting process 
and has a strong background in governance and executive 
leadership. She is FAICD.

John Guy, OAM JP

Grad. Dip. Personnel Admin, Latrobe Community Health 
Service Board Director September 1997-2018, Chairperson 
2002-04 and 2008-16, Member of the Board Nominations 
Committee 2020

John spent 35 years with the State Electricity Commission of 
Victoria; six years on the Morwell Shire / City Council (three 
consecutive years as Mayor); was Chairman of the Latrobe 
Regional Commission and Chairman of Commissioners of 
Wellington Shire during the amalgamation process. He is a 
Justice of the Peace (JP), President of the Central Gippsland 
Branch of the Justice Association, a volunteer with the Office 
of the Public Advocate, Independent Third Person Program and 
a volunteer with the Youth Referral and Independent Person 
Program. John is also Chair of Advance Morwell Inc. (life 
member), is a member of the Hazelwood Mine Fire Recovery 
Committee and a member of the Latrobe City International 
Relations Committee.

Board Community Investment Committee

The Board Community Investment Committee is responsible for 
overseeing the Latrobe Community Health Service Community 
Grants program, which is funded by the Latrobe Community 
Health Service Community Capital Investment Fund dividend as 
set by the Board annually.

As part of undertaking an annual grants program, the Board 
Community Investment Committee develops grant guidelines, 
assessment criteria, recommends projects to the Board for 
funding and monitors the progress of projects and reports this 
to the Board.
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Janet Nelson

B.S.Chem, PhD (Chemistry).

Janet is a demonstrated senior executive leader with global 
career experiences and networks that extend across academia, 
government, not-for-profit organisations, and industrial 
communities. In Janet’s 35-year career, she has gained experience 
in scientific research and teaching, scientific review and research 
portfolio administration, complex and multidisciplinary program 
/ project management, business development, and science policy 
implementation. She has served on numerous Boards in Australia 
and the United States, and has a strong understanding of the 
importance of having the right mix of technical and other specific 
skills (including a good cross-section and generality of skills) on 
Boards. Janet is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 

Board Community Investment Committee

The Board Community Investment Committee is responsible for 
overseeing the Latrobe Community Health Service Community 
Grants program, which is funded by the Latrobe Community 
Health Service Community Capital Investment Fund dividend as 
set by the Board annually.

As part of undertaking an annual grants program, the Board 
Community Investment Committee recommends projects to the 
Board for funding, and monitors the progress of projects and 
reports this to the Board. 

Upon the Board Community Investment Committee’s 
recommendation, the Board recently provided funding to:

• �The Salvation Army to purchase a freezer for the Doorways 
Latrobe Program to reduce food wastage and increase food 
security in the community.

• �TCB Living to Thrive to go towards the purchase of fresh 
produce and non-perishables for their food bank, and also the 
purchase of produce for their workshops to teach clients how to 
prepare food and minimise wastage.
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Board Nominations Committee

The Board Nominations Committee provides advice and 
recommendations to the Board on specified matters as set 
out in the Latrobe Community Health Service Constitution. 
These include conducting searches for board directors, 
reviewing elected and appointed nominations for validity, 
providing advice to the Board on the prevailing skills matrix and 
consulting with the Board regarding preferred candidates.

The committee includes two non-Board Directors:

Angela Hutson

FAICD, B. Arts, Masters Organisational Leadership, Dip 
Frontline Management, Dip Education, Grad. Dip Business 
in Entrepreneurship and Innovation, Grad. Cert Enterprise 
Management

Angela served on the Board of Bairnsdale Regional Health 
Service for 17 years and was Board Chair for six years. She 
is currently a Board Director of Workways Australia, East 
Gippsland Water, TAFE Gippsland and GunaiKurnai Traditional 
Owner Land Management Board. Angela has a depth of 
experience in establishing skills matrices, developing Board 
capability profiles, the recruitment and shortlisting process 
and has a strong background in governance and executive 
leadership. She is FAICD.

John Guy, OAM JP

Grad. Dip. Personnel Admin, Latrobe Community Health 
Service Board Director September 1997-2018, Chairperson 
2002-04 and 2008-16, Member of the Board Nominations 
Committee 2020

John spent 35 years with the State Electricity Commission of 
Victoria; six years on the Morwell Shire / City Council (three 
consecutive years as Mayor); was Chairman of the Latrobe 
Regional Commission and Chairman of Commissioners of 
Wellington Shire during the amalgamation process. He is a 
Justice of the Peace (JP), President of the Central Gippsland 
Branch of the Justice Association, a volunteer with the Office 
of the Public Advocate, Independent Third Person Program and 
a volunteer with the Youth Referral and Independent Person 
Program. John is also Chair of Advance Morwell Inc. (life 
member), is a member of the Hazelwood Mine Fire Recovery 
Committee and a member of the Latrobe City International 
Relations Committee.

Board Community Investment Committee

The Board Community Investment Committee is responsible for 
overseeing the Latrobe Community Health Service Community 
Grants program, which is funded by the Latrobe Community 
Health Service Community Capital Investment Fund dividend as 
set by the Board annually.

As part of undertaking an annual grants program, the Board 
Community Investment Committee develops grant guidelines, 
assessment criteria, recommends projects to the Board for 
funding and monitors the progress of projects and reports this 
to the Board.
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Details of attendance by Directors and non-Director Members of Latrobe Community 
Health Service at Board, Board Audit and Risk Committee, Board Quality and Safety 
Committee, Board Governance Committee, Board Nominations Committee and Board 
Community Investment Committee meetings held during the period 1 July 2021 – 30 
June 2022, are as follows:

Board attendance

Board Board Audit  
and Risk  

Committee

Board Quality  
and Safety  
Committee

Board  
Governance  
Committee

Board  
Nominations  
Committee

Board  
Community  
Investment  
Committee

	 A	 B	 A	 B	 A	 B	 A	 B	 A	 B	 A	 B

Judith Walker	 10	 10	 4^	 4^	 4^	 4^	 4	 4	 -	 -	 2^	 2^

Stelvio Vido	 10	 10	 -	 -	 4	 4	 4	 4	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Joanne Booth	 10	 10	 1	 1	 3	 3	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2	 2

Mark Biggs	 10	 10	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1	 1	 1	 1	 -	 -

Nathan Voll	 10	 10	 4	 4	 -	 -	 1	 1	 2	 2	 -	 -

Murray Bruce	 10	 10	 3	 3	 1	 1	 -	 -	 2	 2	 1	 1

Bernadette Uzelac	 10	 10	 -	 -	 1	 1	 3	 3	 1	 1	 1	 1

Placido Cali	 10	 10	 4	 4	 -	 -	 3	 3	 1	 1	 -	 -

Tracey Tobias	 9	 9	 -	 -	 3	 3	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Tanya James	 -	 -	 4	 4	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Rob Setina	 -	 -	 4	 4	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Kaye Borgelt	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4	 4	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Petra Bovery-Spencer	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4	 4	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Angela Hutson*	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1	 1	 -	 -

John Guy	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 3	 3	 -	 -

Janet Nelson**	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2	 2	 -	 -

Non-Director members

Notes:

Column A: Indicates the number of meetings held while the Director / non-Director Member was a member of the Board / Board Committee.

Column B: Indicates number of meetings attended. 
^ Board Chairperson will on occasion attend Board committees ex-officio.
* �Angela Hutson retired as non-Director Member after the October 2021 Board Nominations Committee meeting in line with the constitutional 

maximum term of five years. 
** Janet Nelson was appointed as non-Director Member on the Board Nominations Committee in February 2022.

Meetings
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Risk management___

Latrobe Community Health Service maintains a robust and flexible risk 
management framework that supports future growth, a safe environment 
and compliance with relevant legislation, regulations and standards. 
This framework both promotes and is supported by a strong risk culture 
in which staff are able to identify and respond to emerging risks. The 
Latrobe Community Health Service Board oversees the organisation’s risk 
management via the Board Audit and Risk Committee and the Board Quality 
and Safety Committee. 

All staff members at Latrobe Community Health Service are 
responsible for identifying, reporting and responding to risks 
in a timely and effective manner. Our stringent policies and 
procedures outline how current and emerging risks should 
be managed. As a community health service, our exposure 
to risk may occur at a strategic, operational or clinical level, 
and therefore our risk management framework relates to the 
organisation’s:

•  quality of care

•  infection control

•  occupational health and safety

•  business continuity

•  management of facilities 

•  financial position

•  growth and innovation.

A strong risk culture at Latrobe Community Health Service 
means that all risks are adequately managed; incidents are 
promptly reported, responded to and resolved; staff complete 
mandatory training; and our clients receive high-quality and 
safe healthcare.
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Organisational structure___

Reports

•  Manager Marketing and 
Communications

•  Manager Governance

•  Senior Manager People, 
Learning and Culture

•  Manager Information, 
Communication and 
Technology

•  Manager Finance

•  Manager Client Services

•  Manager Facilities and 
Fleet

•  Manager Business 
Development

Rick Davies

Executive Director  
Corporate

Andrina Romano

Executive Director  
Primary Health

Alison Skeldon

Executive Director
Aged and Community Care

Vince Massaro

Executive Director
NDIS Services

Reports

•  Manager Paediatric and 
Youth Hub

•  Manager Integrated 
Primary Health Central 
Gippsland

•  Manager Integrated 
Primary Health West 
Gippsland

•  Manager Integrated 
Primary Health Metro

•  Manager Dental Services

•  Manager Gateway

•  Manager Link Oral 
Wellbeing 

Reports

•  Executive Officer Central 
West Gippsland Primary 
Care Partnership

•  Manager Prevention and 
Partnerships

•  State Manager Home Care 
Services 

•  Manager Commonwealth 
Home Support and Carer 
Programs

•  Manager Behavioural 
Health Programs

•  Manager headspace 
Morwell and Youth 
Services

Reports

•  Regional Manager 
North West 
Victoria Local Area 
Coordination (LAC)

•  Regional Manager 
South East Victoria  
and South Eastern 
Sydney LAC

•  Regional Manager 
Early Childhood Early 
Intervention (ECEI)

Ben Leigh

Chief Executive Officer
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Latrobe Community Health Service maintains a robust and flexible risk management 
framework that supports future growth, a safe environment and compliance with relevant 
legislation, regulations and standards. This framework both promotes and is supported 
by a positive risk culture in which staff are able to identify and respond to emerging risks. 
Latrobe Community Health Service ensures effective risk management occurs by connecting 
the values and goals of the organisation with the practical risk management activities 
conducted by management and staff.

Risk management

The Latrobe Community Health Service Board oversees the 
organisation’s risk management via the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Board Quality and Safety Committee.

All staff members at Latrobe Community Health Service are 
responsible for identifying, reporting and responding to risks 
in a timely and effective manner. Our policies and procedures 
outline how current and emerging risks should be managed. As 
a community health service, our exposure to risk may occur at 
a strategic, operational or clinical level, and therefore our risk 
management framework relates to the organisation’s:

• quality and safety of care

• infection control

• ICT systems and security

• occupational health and safety

• business continuity

• management of physical assets and facilities 

• financial position

• strategic growth and innovation.

A positive risk culture at Latrobe Community Health Service 
is one where staff, volunteers and contractors fulfil their risk 
management responsibilities to help manage client, community, 
organisation and workforce risks.
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Risk management___

Latrobe Community Health Service maintains a robust and flexible risk 
management framework that supports future growth, a safe environment 
and compliance with relevant legislation, regulations and standards. 
This framework both promotes and is supported by a strong risk culture 
in which staff are able to identify and respond to emerging risks. The 
Latrobe Community Health Service Board oversees the organisation’s risk 
management via the Board Audit and Risk Committee and the Board Quality 
and Safety Committee. 

All staff members at Latrobe Community Health Service are 
responsible for identifying, reporting and responding to risks 
in a timely and effective manner. Our stringent policies and 
procedures outline how current and emerging risks should 
be managed. As a community health service, our exposure 
to risk may occur at a strategic, operational or clinical level, 
and therefore our risk management framework relates to the 
organisation’s:

•  quality of care

•  infection control

•  occupational health and safety

•  business continuity

•  management of facilities 

•  financial position

•  growth and innovation.

A strong risk culture at Latrobe Community Health Service 
means that all risks are adequately managed; incidents are 
promptly reported, responded to and resolved; staff complete 
mandatory training; and our clients receive high-quality and 
safe healthcare.
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Risk management___
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and compliance with relevant legislation, regulations and standards. 
This framework both promotes and is supported by a strong risk culture 
in which staff are able to identify and respond to emerging risks. The 
Latrobe Community Health Service Board oversees the organisation’s risk 
management via the Board Audit and Risk Committee and the Board Quality 
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All staff members at Latrobe Community Health Service are 
responsible for identifying, reporting and responding to risks 
in a timely and effective manner. Our stringent policies and 
procedures outline how current and emerging risks should 
be managed. As a community health service, our exposure 
to risk may occur at a strategic, operational or clinical level, 
and therefore our risk management framework relates to the 
organisation’s:

•  quality of care

•  infection control

•  occupational health and safety

•  business continuity

•  management of facilities 

•  financial position

•  growth and innovation.

A strong risk culture at Latrobe Community Health Service 
means that all risks are adequately managed; incidents are 
promptly reported, responded to and resolved; staff complete 
mandatory training; and our clients receive high-quality and 
safe healthcare.
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Organisational structure___

Reports

•  Manager Marketing and 
Communications

•  Manager Governance

•  Senior Manager People, 
Learning and Culture

•  Manager Information, 
Communication and 
Technology

•  Manager Finance

•  Manager Client Services

•  Manager Facilities and 
Fleet

•  Manager Business 
Development

Rick Davies

Executive Director  
Corporate

Andrina Romano

Executive Director  
Primary Health

Alison Skeldon

Executive Director
Aged and Community Care

Vince Massaro

Executive Director
NDIS Services

Reports

•  Manager Paediatric and 
Youth Hub

•  Manager Integrated 
Primary Health Central 
Gippsland

•  Manager Integrated 
Primary Health West 
Gippsland

•  Manager Integrated 
Primary Health Metro

•  Manager Dental Services

•  Manager Gateway

•  Manager Link Oral 
Wellbeing 

Reports

•  Executive Officer Central 
West Gippsland Primary 
Care Partnership

•  Manager Prevention and 
Partnerships

•  State Manager Home Care 
Services 

•  Manager Commonwealth 
Home Support and Carer 
Programs

•  Manager Behavioural 
Health Programs

•  Manager headspace 
Morwell and Youth 
Services

Reports

•  Regional Manager 
North West 
Victoria Local Area 
Coordination (LAC)

•  Regional Manager 
South East Victoria  
and South Eastern 
Sydney LAC

•  Regional Manager 
Early Childhood Early 
Intervention (ECEI)

Ben Leigh

Chief Executive Officer
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Organisational structure

Ben Leigh
Chief Executive Officer

• �Manager Marketing and 
Communications

• �Manager Governance

• �Senior Manager People, 
Learning and Culture

• �Manager Information, 
Communication and 
Technology

• �Manager Finance

• �Manager Client Services

• �Manager Facilities and 
Fleet

• �Manager Business 
Development

• �General Counsel

Rick Davies
Executive Director  
Corporate

• �Manager Paediatric and 
Youth Hub

• �Manager Integrated 
Primary Health Central 
Gippsland

• �Manager Integrated 
Primary Health West 
Gippsland

• �Manager Integrated 
Primary Health Metro

• �Manager Dental Services

• �Manager Gateway

• �Manager Link Oral 
Wellbeing 

• �Manager GP Practice 
Metro

• �Manager GP Practice and 
Community Paramedics

Andrina Romano
Executive Director   
Primary Health

• �Executive Officer Central 
West Gippsland Primary 
Care Partnership

• �Manager Prevention and 
Partnerships

• �State Manager Home 
Care Services 

• �Manager Commonwealth 
Home Support and Carer 
Programs

• �Manager Behavioural 
Health Programs

• �Manager headspace 
Morwell and Youth 
Services

• �Manager Your Care 
Choice

Alison Skeldon
Executive Director Aged  
and Community Care

• �Regional Manager North 
West Victoria

• �Regional Manager South 
East Victoria and South 
Eastern Sydney

• �Regional Manager Early 
Childhood Approach

Vince Massaro
Executive Director  
NDIS Services
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Key enablers
When we developed the 2017-2022 strategic plan, we identified 
areas for organisational focus that would be precursors to our 
strategic success.

Coined ‘key enablers’, these have been the backbone of our day-to-day operations 
over the past five years. Our two areas of focus have been service excellence and 
internal organisation.

Service excellence

Providing excellent customer service is the first of 

our four values. We provide the quality services our 

clients need in a professional and courteous manner. 

At Latrobe Community Health Service, service 

excellence goes beyond providing a smiling face and 

helping hand. Service excellence is also empowering 

people to take charge of their own health journey, 

and giving them the space, confidence and tools to 

tell us how we can help them do that. 

Over the past five years, service excellence has paved 

the way for our organisation to achieve genuinely 

positive outcomes for our clients. 

Since 2017-18, we have:

n Employed a Service Excellence Officer.

n �Developed a ‘Service Design Framework’, our 

handbook for co-designing improvements with 

staff and clients.

n �Integrated service co-design into our everyday 

practices; every year our Service Excellence Officer 

leads a co-review and co-design process across 11 

different services.

n �Employed a Client Family Experience Officer who 

established our new Customer Voice Group. 

n �Created a Customer Experience Strategy, which is 

the overarching framework that guides how we 

integrate our client voices into our service designs 

and improvements.
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Co-designing improvements

In 2018, Latrobe Community Health Service developed a 
tool that could help us find out how our clients experience 
our services. Named the Service Design Framework, this tool 
allows us to do two things:

1.    Give our clients direct input into their service delivery 
and care, because clients know best what they need.

2.    Co-design service improvements with clients and staff, 
using a ‘plan, do, study, act’ methodology.

Since we developed the Service Design Framework, we 
have:

•    asked more than 250 clients and 70 staff members 
about what we do well, and what we can do better

•     run more than 25 focus groups to brainstorm solutions

•     co-designed and implemented more than 50 
improvements across 30 client-facing services and three 
internal business functions (our ICT, facilities and fleet, 
and marketing and communications support teams).

The Service Design Framework has proved crucial in helping us 
deliver service excellence at every touch point a client has with 
our organisation. Whether it’s picking up the phone to book 
an appointment, seeing a doctor or a podiatrist for treatment, 
or reading about rights and responsibilities as a client – our 
Service Design Framework allows us to delve into these areas 
to ensure every stage of the client experience is high quality. 
Three years since developing the framework, including an 
initial 12-month pilot, it is now well and truly embedded in our 
business-as-usual operations.

Latrobe Community Health Service is a National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) partner in the community. We 
help people who are eligible for the scheme to develop a 
plan that includes funding for disability support services 
and equipment. We provide information about the different 
services, community activities and equipment available, and 
we help people with NDIS plans start their funded services 
and obtain their funded equipment. 

In 2020-21, we interviewed 15 people with disability who 
receive NDIS planning and community connection services 
from our team in Inner Eastern Melbourne. We are often 
an NDIS participant’s first point of contact, so we need to 
ensure they can contact us easily and get the information 
they need. About 80 percent of the people we spoke to 
said this usually happened. However, others reported gaps 
in our service, including sometimes not hearing back from 
their known contact person.

To address this, we implemented a new process to ensure 
we respond to everyone within one business day. A three-
month review of our new process found: 

•   We resolved 92 percent of calls on the day of initial 
contact.

•   Most people receive a call back from our staff members 
within one day, and their query is resolved.

We are now working on rolling out the same process across 
all of our NDIS service areas.

At Link Health and Community, we have a team of 
allied health clinicians who help people manage their 
diabetes. People with diabetes can see a diabetic nurse 
educator, dietitian, podiatrist, exercise physiologist and / or 
physiotherapist at our Link sites.

During a service design review, we found our appointment 
reminder system differed depending on whether 
someone was seeing a podiatrist or another allied health 
professional. Some clients weren’t given the option to 
have an appointment reminder sent via text, and others 
had a reminder slip to phone and book an appointment 
themselves.

We co-designed and implemented a standard SMS reminder 
system for all allied health clients, and now everyone 
receives text reminders for their upcoming appointments.

Our Service Excellence Officer presented our Service Design 
Framework to the Australian and New Zealand Consumer 
Health Forum in March 2021. Feedback at the forum 
confirmed Latrobe Community Health Service is leading the 
way in capturing the voices of our clients, and using co-
design thinking to plan service improvements.

22  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2020-21

Customer experience at the forefront  
of all we do

We recognise a person’s experience with our service can 
influence them in many ways: whether they return to our 
service or not; whether they feel confused or uplifted on their 
health journey; whether their health and wellbeing improves 
or declines. In order to understand what we’re doing well, 
and what we can improve, we ask our clients about their 
experience with our service – from start to finish.

Was it easy or difficult for you to book an appointment? Did 
you have to wait a long or short time before seeing your 
healthcare professional? Did you feel listened to? Did the 
services we provide actually help?

In 2020-21, we developed an organisation-wide Customer 
Experience Strategy. This strategy outlines the many ways 
we capture client voices, understand client experiences, and 
implement improvements. It is the overarching framework 
that underpins how we integrate our clients’ voices into our 
services.

In 2021-22, we:

• �Presented the Customer Experience Strategy to every 
team across the organisation.

• �Started using the Net Promoter Score (on a scale of 
0 to 10, how likely are you to recommend Latrobe 
Community Health Service to others?) to understand 
client experiences across 14 different services.

• �Appointed 29 customer experience champions at 
Latrobe Community Health Service, who receive and 
act on the client feedback we receive through the Net 
Promoter Score and subsequent questions.

Our customer experience champions work alongside their 
teams to identify gaps and improve service delivery using these 
insights. A direct benefit of this approach is the ability for 
teams to celebrate the praise our clients share about the staff 
they interact with – in real-time.

The Net Promoter Score is just one of many ways we gather 
feedback from the people who use our services. We are now 
working towards integrating our feedback collection methods 
to ensure these insights sit together. This will allow us to obtain 
a more comprehensive overview of the customer experience at 
Latrobe Community Health Service.

We ask our clients about their 
experience with our service – 
from start to finish.
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Co-designing improvements

In 2018, Latrobe Community Health Service developed a 
tool that could help us find out how our clients experience 
our services. Named the Service Design Framework, this tool 
allows us to do two things:

1.    Give our clients direct input into their service delivery 
and care, because clients know best what they need.

2.    Co-design service improvements with clients and staff, 
using a ‘plan, do, study, act’ methodology.
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•     run more than 25 focus groups to brainstorm solutions
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improvements across 30 client-facing services and three 
internal business functions (our ICT, facilities and fleet, 
and marketing and communications support teams).
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our organisation. Whether it’s picking up the phone to book 
an appointment, seeing a doctor or a podiatrist for treatment, 
or reading about rights and responsibilities as a client – our 
Service Design Framework allows us to delve into these areas 
to ensure every stage of the client experience is high quality. 
Three years since developing the framework, including an 
initial 12-month pilot, it is now well and truly embedded in our 
business-as-usual operations.

Latrobe Community Health Service is a National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) partner in the community. We 
help people who are eligible for the scheme to develop a 
plan that includes funding for disability support services 
and equipment. We provide information about the different 
services, community activities and equipment available, and 
we help people with NDIS plans start their funded services 
and obtain their funded equipment. 

In 2020-21, we interviewed 15 people with disability who 
receive NDIS planning and community connection services 
from our team in Inner Eastern Melbourne. We are often 
an NDIS participant’s first point of contact, so we need to 
ensure they can contact us easily and get the information 
they need. About 80 percent of the people we spoke to 
said this usually happened. However, others reported gaps 
in our service, including sometimes not hearing back from 
their known contact person.

To address this, we implemented a new process to ensure 
we respond to everyone within one business day. A three-
month review of our new process found: 

•   We resolved 92 percent of calls on the day of initial 
contact.

•   Most people receive a call back from our staff members 
within one day, and their query is resolved.

We are now working on rolling out the same process across 
all of our NDIS service areas.

At Link Health and Community, we have a team of 
allied health clinicians who help people manage their 
diabetes. People with diabetes can see a diabetic nurse 
educator, dietitian, podiatrist, exercise physiologist and / or 
physiotherapist at our Link sites.

During a service design review, we found our appointment 
reminder system differed depending on whether 
someone was seeing a podiatrist or another allied health 
professional. Some clients weren’t given the option to 
have an appointment reminder sent via text, and others 
had a reminder slip to phone and book an appointment 
themselves.

We co-designed and implemented a standard SMS reminder 
system for all allied health clients, and now everyone 
receives text reminders for their upcoming appointments.

Our Service Excellence Officer presented our Service Design 
Framework to the Australian and New Zealand Consumer 
Health Forum in March 2021. Feedback at the forum 
confirmed Latrobe Community Health Service is leading the 
way in capturing the voices of our clients, and using co-
design thinking to plan service improvements.
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Because service excellence underpins our Customer 
Experience Strategy, we hope to eventually measure 
our organisational service excellence against three 
principles:

1. Care

2. Connection

3. Communication

These principles have been co-developed using client 
feedback and in consultation with staff. 

Our Customer Experience Strategy will continue to be part of 
our strategic plan for 2022-2027. Over the next five years, we 
will bring all of our customer service initiatives together, to 
continue to improve our services and deliver service excellence 
in all that we do.

Customer Voice Advisors join Latrobe  
Community Health Service

To achieve our organisational vision, we need to ask our 
communities for their advice, experience and ideas, and 
importantly, we need to listen.

We already do this by distributing surveys and inviting people 
to fill out feedback forms. We recently introduced the Net 
Promoter Score, which asks people how likely they are to 
recommend our services to someone else. We have also been 
co-designing services and improvements with clients for many 
years.

However, what we’ve been missing is a specific group of people 
we can call upon to help us shape the way we do things. 
Whether we are looking at upgrading our premises, designing 
promotional material, or reviewing how people can book an 
appointment, it is vital the people who are likely to use our 
services have a say in how they’re delivered. 

In 2018-19, we formed the inaugural Consumer and 
Community Participation Committee to help us think about 
things from a service user perspective. This committee met 
quarterly, and provided collective feedback, so members were 
limited in what they could genuinely influence. 

So we formed the Customer Voice Group. The group consists 
of clients and client family members who have recently used 
our services. Named Customer Voice Advisors, group members 
can choose from a variety of current Latrobe Community Health 
Service projects to provide their perspectives and help shape the 
way they look. 

We now have 13 Customer Voice Advisors whose ages 
range from early-20s to mid-80s, and who are located in 
Melbourne, the Latrobe Valley, and Ballarat. Some members 

have co-designed promotional material with the marketing 
and communications team, while others are helping with the 
redesign of our Moe garden.

Our ongoing focus is to ensure the Customer Voice Group 
reflects the diversity of the communities we serve. This means 
we hear different perspectives that challenge us to think 
in inclusive ways. We invite people from different cultural, 
economic and experiential backgrounds, as well as people 
from across the different regions where we operate, to 
become a Customer Voice Advisor. We also remove barriers to 
participation by asking what people need from us to be able to 
participate. 

Co-design is everyday practice

We have been co-designing services and improvements with 
our staff and clients using our Service Design Framework since 
2018. Using the framework, we:

• �Gain qualitative insights from our staff and clients about their 
experiences and ideas to improve.

• �Use a ‘plan, do, study, act’ approach to put these ideas into 
action.

Since 2018:

• �More than 350 clients and 70 staff have participated in 
a ‘service design review’.

• �We have held 35 focus groups to brainstorm solutions. 

• �We have implemented 70 improvements across 35 
services and six internal corporate teams.
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Our Service Design Framework is  
leading to positive outcomes

Ongoing COVID-19 restrictions in Melbourne meant people 
with general (non-urgent) footcare needs had to wait longer 
than usual for an appointment. We recognised this could lead 
to clients’ foot health deteriorating, and so we co-designed an 
online footcare education group in which people could learn 
how to take care of their feet at home. Every client told us 
the sessions were helpful, and the number of clients who felt 
confident to take care of their feet more than doubled. Because 
more people felt confident to take care of their feet at home, 
our podiatrists could see more people at higher risk of poor foot 
health. We have seen a significant increase in the number of 
people receiving a timely appointment since we introduced the 
footcare education groups.

In 2021-22, our Early Childhood NDIS team reviewed their 
performance against quality and safety benchmarks, and used 
these insights to inform areas of focus for the qualitative service 
design review. The quality review found we are performing 
very well in the areas of client engagement, client satisfaction 
and record keeping. We also demonstrated a high level of 
understanding of legislative requirements and responsibilities.

We learnt we could improve the support we provide children 
and families when they transition between the Early Childhood 
Approach and Local Area Coordination service at seven years 

of age. Our Service Excellence Officer conducted a focus 
group and interviewed families, and we created a working 
group tasked with designing a warm handover for families 
transitioning between services. We are now running a pilot in 
Inner and Outer Gippsland, and Outer East Melbourne, to see 
if our new approach delivers better outcomes for families. We 
will invite families to provide feedback on our pilot. If deemed 
a success, we will roll out training, communication tools, and a 
staff manual across all of our NDIS service areas.

Service excellence in our  
communication 
As part of our commitment to service excellence, we inform every single 
client about their rights when accessing our services. Rights include 
access to healthcare, safety, information, respect, and privacy, as well as 
opportunities to provide feedback. 

In 2021-22, we produced an Easy English version of our brochure. Easy English 
is a style of writing that uses words and images to help readers understand the 
information. It is especially useful for people with low literacy, acquired brain 
injuries, dyslexia, and who speak English as a second language. 

We commissioned an accessible information service to produce the brochure. 
Using a team of speech pathologists, writers, editors and designers to 
produce the document, the team then employed people with low levels of 
literacy to review the brochure and provide feedback. We’re pleased to say 
our Easy English brochure is consumer-approved and meets the needs of 
those with low English literacy.

The Easy English brochure is one of several ways we communicate rights 
to clients. We have a standard brochure, one for children, and several 
translated versions.

Your rights and responsibilities
Latrobe Community Health Service

Easy English
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Family violence awareness and response 
remains front and centre for our staff 

Victoria’s Royal Commission into Family Violence was 
tasked with finding solutions to prevent family violence, 
better support victim survivors, and hold perpetrators 
to account. In response to the 227 Royal Commission 
recommendations, the government developed a 10-year 
industry plan for family violence prevention and response 
in Victoria. This plan covers workforce requirements for all 
government and non-government agencies and services 
that have or will have responsibility for preventing or 
responding to family violence.

Latrobe Community Health Service is a non-government 
agency that has many responsibilities under this plan.

The government also created a family violence information 
sharing scheme, a child information sharing scheme, and 
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Management (MARAM) 
framework in response to the Royal Commission. 
Embedding the two information sharing schemes and the 
MARAM framework into legislation aims to provide greater 
consistency of family violence identification, assessment and 
risk management.

As of 18 April 2021, Latrobe Community Health Service is 
a prescribed organisation at law under all three schemes. 
We have worked hard to ensure our client-facing staff are 
aware of their new responsibilities to support women and 
children who are experiencing family violence. Through 
training and awareness campaigns, we have supported 
all staff to understand the behaviours and actions that 
constitute family violence.

During 2020-21, we took several steps to ensure our 
organisation and our staff are well-positioned to meet our 
legislative responsibilities.

To date, we have:

•    mapped our workforce against the relevant 
responsibilities outlined in the MARAM framework

•    developed an organisational family violence plan to help 
us identify, respond and prevent family violence

•    delivered an eLearning module to 1,394 staff to support 
an understanding of behaviours that constitute family 
violence and evidence-based risk factors

•    reviewed program procedures to incorporate MARAM 
and information sharing responsibilities

•    developed client reporting systems that will help us meet 
our record-keeping obligations

•    inserted responsibility statements into staff position 
descriptions, so all of us are aware of our new 
responsibilities

•    created a support plan for staff members who 
experience family violence

•    launched a family violence and child safety intranet page 
to guide understanding and practice

•    established a team that provides secondary consultation 
and advice for staff who are responding to child safety 
or family violence concerns

•    implemented MARAM and information sharing training 
for teams who deliver specialist family violence, 
integrated family services, and alcohol and other drug 
services

•    conducted ‘Communities of Practice’ for alcohol and 
other drug staff so our workforce is familiar with 
best practice family violence assessment and risk 
management

•    scheduled MARAM training for all managers.

In 2021-22, we will:

•    provide MARAM and information sharing training and 
practice support to all staff who work with clients, 
including dentists, physiotherapists and NDIS planners

•    strengthen our quality improvement processes, including 
audits of our family violence and child safety practices

•    work with staff to identify and keep perpetrators of 
family violence in view.
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Key enablers continued
When we developed the 2017-2022 strategic plan, we recognised early 
on we needed to focus on several internal activities. Aimed at improving 
our processes, structures, and technology, these activities have proven key 
to supporting the successful implementation of our strategic plan.

Workforce planning – including recruiting and retaining talented staff with specialist 
skills – has been our priority. Never has this been more relevant than during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Growing a fit-for-purpose workforce remains part of our 
strategic ambition for the next five years.

Organisational focus 

Over the past five years, we have appointed 

an Internal Communications Advisor, updated 

our intranet platform, and revamped our staff 

newsletters. 

Technology has also been pivotal in communicating 

across the organisation; the use of videoconferencing 

and remotely accessing our business systems have 

well and truly become business-as-usual.

Aside from these visible changes, we have also 

made subtle but fundamental shifts in the way our 

organisation operates. Reaccreditation, introducing 

or updating policies and procedures, and continuing 

to invest in professional development for our staff 

have been areas of significant focus.

Since 2017-18, we have: 

n �Delivered a workforce plan that aimed to diversify 

our workforce, and attract and retain staff with 

specialist skills (such as allied health, psychologists, 

and general practitioners).

n �Recommitted to talking, walking and working 

together with our First Nations communities 

through the creation of a new First Nations Health 

and Wellbeing Committee and Plan.

n �Achieved re-accreditation in seven areas.

n �Invested $2.5 million in professional development, 

training and leadership development for our staff.
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Family violence awareness and response 
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to guide understanding and practice
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for teams who deliver specialist family violence, 
integrated family services, and alcohol and other drug 
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•    conducted ‘Communities of Practice’ for alcohol and 
other drug staff so our workforce is familiar with 
best practice family violence assessment and risk 
management

•    scheduled MARAM training for all managers.

In 2021-22, we will:

•    provide MARAM and information sharing training and 
practice support to all staff who work with clients, 
including dentists, physiotherapists and NDIS planners

•    strengthen our quality improvement processes, including 
audits of our family violence and child safety practices

•    work with staff to identify and keep perpetrators of 
family violence in view.
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Achieving our purpose is only possible with 
supported and well-trained staff

Everyday, we ask our staff to live out our values in their actions 
– including providing excellent customer service in every 
interaction. Service excellence doesn’t just happen, though. It 
requires a person-centred approach, a ‘how can we help’ and 
‘can-do’ attitude, and staff who are supported and trained.

In 2021-22, we invested $527,000 on professional development 
and leadership development for our staff. The training we 
fund ranges from cultural competency, best practice in service 
delivery and software skills, to qualifications in various fields 
including dental, allied health, health promotion, counselling, 
nursing, and community services.

Every year, we also deliver training to existing and emerging 
leaders – communication, coaching, critical thinking, and 
influencing positive cultures are among the topics our leadership 
teams learnt throughout 2021-22. 

Team leaders and managers in our Primary Health Directorate – 
which includes GPs, dental, nursing, dietitians, physiotherapists, 
and other allied health professionals – participated in several 
workshops with an external management consultant. The 
workshops were based on the premise that teams don’t happen 
by chance – team building and team maintenance requires 
unremitting attention. The workshops covered resiliency 
building, work-life balance, staying healthy, and managing 
through the generations. Participants also unpacked what 
leadership and management means to them, as well as how to 
support their peers and team members.

Our staff told us:

“I have done a university degree, but this course gave me 
practical tools I can use everyday.”

“It was a wonderful opportunity to understand myself as 
a leader and manager and highlight what I have to work 
on.”

“In this day and age, leadership is critical, so this is a great 
opportunity to learn together.” 

Our managers and team leaders will continue to share 
experiences and undertake new topics in 2022-23.

Upskilling our nurses 

In 2021-22, we made a deliberate effort to upskill our enrolled 
and registered nurses who deliver care at home. A diversified 
nursing workforce means skills, tasks, and processes are known 
by more than one person, and services continue uninterrupted if 
one staff member is unavailable. 

Our nursing team leader has spent much of the year delivering 
training across our district and palliative care nurses, so that 

more nurses have the ability, confidence, and skillset to triage 
and plan admissions for our clients.

Four of our enrolled nurses now triage and plan admissions 
into our district nursing service, and several registered nurses 
are available and trained to support this service when required. 
The team leader oversees this process, and helps nurses in their 
clinical decision-making.

In the palliative care space, which often involves caring for 
people with more complex, terminal conditions and medical 
needs, we have introduced a ‘buddy’ mentoring system. We 
have trained four registered nurses who are skilled in palliative 
care to also triage palliative clients. Staff who don’t know how 
to triage are paired with those who do. Six more registered 
nurses are being upskilled to manage the full breadth of 
palliative care, and will be the next palliative care nurses to start 
triage training. 

Our new community paramedic team members add an 
extra layer of clinical support for our nursing workforce. The 
paramedics also conduct assessment, planning, evaluation and 
screening for clients and their families and carers. This means 
we are delivering treatment and care to more people sooner. 
Our waitlist has reduced significantly, and we are well on our 
way to our goal of contacting clients within three days of 
receiving their referral.

Collaborating with the specialists in  
palliative care 

Nurses at Latrobe Community Health Service have the 
opportunity to work in a variety of clinical settings. We deliver 
nursing services at people’s homes, we support the health of 
children at their school, we help expecting parents give their 
new baby the best possible start to life, and we also deliver 
multidisciplinary care for people with a terminal illness. 

Our nurses can therefore choose which nursing discipline they’d 
like to specialise in, and we work towards providing the training 
and work experience to make their goals a reality.

In 2021-22, our palliative care team strengthened ties with 
other palliative care organisations who are considered the 
leaders in this space. Three of our nurses each spent three days 
on placement at Palliative Care South East, observing other 
palliative care clinicians and developing new transferrable 
skills. We also signed up to the Program of Experience in the 
Palliative Approach (PEPA). PEPA is a national initiative that 
provides opportunities for clinicians to learn from experienced 
specialist staff to enhance skills, knowledge and experience in 
the palliative approach. One of our nurses completed PEPA with 
Eastern Palliative Care in 2021-22.
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Our nurses told us: 

“I have been able to adopt some of Palliative Care 
South East’s practices in my own day-to-day operations, 
especially the language used when communicating with 
clients, and also the knowledge / experiences they were 
able to pass onto their clients. While these may not be 
my own experiences yet, I feel I am able to relate more 
with clients by sharing the experiences of others, and 
making my clients feel more relaxed and confident about 
palliative care.”

“Placements at Eastern and South East Palliative Care 
offered invaluable resources to support the knowledge 
and practice I already had in place. Getting to go on-road 
with palliative care nurses, clinical nurse specialists and 
nurse practitioners gave me insight into how the roles 
work together to provide the best care for clients and 
their families. I also got to witness the inner workings 
of the multidisciplinary team, team lead and education 
roles and how this comes together to provide best care 
practices. I was able to develop better triage practices at 
Latrobe Community Health Service to improve waiting 
times and overall access to our palliative care service.” 

 
 
We will continue to offer our nursing workforce similar 
opportunities given the value they provide.

Accreditation affirms our approach to quality, 
safety, and continuous improvement

The Latrobe Community Health Service Quality and Clinical 
Governance Framework encompasses the many processes, 
systems and checks we have in place, to ensure we continually 
improve our practices to help our clients achieve their goals. 
We have embedded Safer Care Victoria’s Victorian Clinical 
Governance Framework domains into our systems and 
processes, and we report on our performance through our 
Board Quality and Safety Committee and Clinical Governance 
Management Committee. These reports consider our workforce; 
clinical practice and collaboration; leadership and culture; client 
partnerships; risk management; systems and processes; and 
review and oversight.

Everyone at Latrobe Community Health Service is responsible 
for delivering high-quality services, regardless of our position. 
Focusing on quality and safety for clients ensures we are:

• �Continuously improving our processes, systems and the way 
we do our business.

• �Reviewing and identifying risks to make our workplaces safe 
for ourselves, our clients and our communities.

• �Satisfied in our roles by achieving great results and meeting 
the needs of our clients and the community.

Between 1 July 2017 and 30 June 2022, we were 
assessed and obtained accreditation against the 
following standards:

• �Quality Innovation Council (QIC) Health and Community 
Services Standards

• �National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) 
Standards

• �Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 
(RACGP) Standards (across all of our GP Clinics:  
Glen Waverley, Oakleigh, La Trobe University, Morwell, 
Churchill, Traralgon, Warragul, Moe)

• �Home Care Quality Standard 

• �Human Services Standards

• �headspace Model Integrity Framework

• �Diagnostic Imaging Accreditation Scheme (DIAS)

Another round of  
accreditation achieved 
In 2021-22, Latrobe Community Health Service 
achieved full accreditation against the QIC Health 
and Community Service Standards and the Human 
Services Standards until 2024.

While the QIC Health and Community Service 
Standards reviewed us from an organisation-wide 
perspective, our family violence programs were the 
focus of the Human Services Standards assessment.

“Accreditation reviews are a way for our organisation 
to objectively ensure our practices match our policies 
and procedures, but more importantly to ensure we’re 
providing safe and quality services to our clients, and 
supporting the community,” CEO Ben Leigh says.

“Feedback from the assessors indicates ours is a 
workplace that encourages all staff to model our 
organisational values and to share great examples of 
those values via our rewards and recognition system.

“It was also clear to the assessors that staff across all 
directorates are passionate about supporting their 
clients and ensuring the best possible health outcomes 
for those who access our services – this is incredibly 
pleasing to hear.”

We will next undergo accreditation for:

• ��National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) 
Standards 

• �Glen Waverley GP Clinic 

• �headspace 

• �Aged Care Quality Standards
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We assure our communities, funding bodies and stakeholders 
that our quality and clinical governance practices are sound by 
undergoing assessment against various standards. Independent 
agencies such as Quality Innovation Performance, Australian 
General Practice Accreditation, headspace National, and 
the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission assess our 
compliance against these standards. 

Most of our accreditations are based on a three-year cycle, with 
reviews conducted mid-cycle (every 18 months). This allows 
us to act on identified improvements before we have our full 
accreditation assessment. 

Improvement opportunities that are identified during our 
assessment against each standard are implemented through our 
Quality Improvement Plan, which ensures we are continually 
improving the services we provide.

Strengthening our commitment to  
the health and wellbeing of our First Nations 
communities

At Latrobe Community Health Service, we take reconciliation 
and closing the gap seriously.

Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians have vastly different 
health outcomes, with Indigenous people experiencing shorter 
life expectancy and poorer health.

To help address this, we created a First Nations Health and 
Wellbeing Group in 2020. This group replaced our existing 
Reconciliation Action Plan committee, and is strengthening our 
focus on improving health outcomes for First Nations people in 
our community.

As we embark on our new journey to make First Nations health 
and wellbeing an even more significant part of what we do 
across the organisation, we have produced our inaugural First 
Nations Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Each year, our group will choose a different priority to 
work towards. An Aboriginal Employment Plan, increased 
understanding of the need for cultural safety in service 
provision, and an exploration into barriers for Indigenous people 
in accessing our services are among the actions listed in our 
strategy.

The strategy is out for community consultation  
and has four key themes:

1. Community Inspired

2. Welcoming Environments

3. Cultural Safety

4. First Nations Employment

We look forward to:

• �Continuing dialogue and partnerships with First Nations 
people through initiatives like developing a new First 
Nations procurement policy.

• �Continuing to commission First Nations artwork, such 
as the new piece in our boardroom at our Morwell 
headquarters, which was created by Palawa woman 
Domica Hill.

• �Beginning a cultural audit of our organisation through 
yarning circles.

• �Starting our First Nations Employment Plan, which will 
guide the way we recruit, support, retain and reward 
First Nations staff members at Latrobe Community 
Health Service.

• �Improving health and wellbeing outcomes of all the First 
Nations communities we serve.

Celebrating reconciliation 
with our local Elders 
Latrobe Community Health Service celebrated 
National Reconciliation Week 2022 in the company 
of Kurnai Elders Uncle Lloyd Hood and Aunty 
Michelle Hood. Staff and volunteers gathered to 
hear the words of Uncle Lloyd, and participate in 
a smoking ceremony led by Aunty Michelle at our 
Morwell headquarters.

“Although a cold and bleak day, the atmosphere was 
warm with support, interest and engagement from our 
staff who represent a variety of different cultures and 
backgrounds,” Prevention and Partnerships Manager 
Michelle Ravesi says. 

“A long queue snaked through the meandering smoke 
at the ceremony, and we were reminded of what 
reconciliation is for, as the smells of burning eucalypt 
wafted through the building.” 

Uncle Lloyd told sobering stories of his upbringing at 
the Lake Tyers mission in regional Victoria, and what 
he thought was the experience of all boys, not just 
Aboriginal boys on a mission. 

“It is with hope in our hearts and a commitment to 
create a welcoming, accessible and supportive health 
service that we will continue to build meaningful 
relationships with our First Nations people and 
implement our First Nations Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy,” Ms Ravesi says.
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Strategic priority one
Focus on primary and community health services within Gippsland. 

GOALS:

n �Continue to develop community and primary health service offerings in Gippsland

n �Achieve genuine integration of services in the Latrobe Valley

Latrobe Community Health Service has a long, proud 

history in the Latrobe Valley and in Gippsland. Because 

of this history, we have strengthened our commitment 

to delivering better health, better lifestyles and 

stronger communities where we first began.

Since 2017-18, we have refined our focus  
in two key areas:
1. �Developing new service offerings across 

Gippsland.

2. �Integrating disciplines that would otherwise 

operate in silos in traditional healthcare settings.

We have achieved this by:

n �Establishing two multidisciplinary teams that 

deliver holistic health and community services to 

Latrobe Valley adults.

n �Creating a multidisciplinary paediatric and youth 

hub that specialises in health and community care 

for children and young people.

n �Offering more ways for people – especially those 

with multiple health conditions – to see two or 

more clinicians in one appointment.

n �Starting a brand new nursing in primary schools 

program. 

n �Coordinating projects that increase social 

connection, employment and education 

opportunities for Gippsland’s migrants and 

refugees.

n �Partnering with other organisations, such as the 

Gippsland East Gippsland Aboriginal Cooperative, 

to deliver place-based, culturally-safe, and  

person-centred services.
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Integrated health teams place people at the 
centre of their own care

Our 2017-2022 strategic plan made a commitment to 
the Gippsland community: we will improve the healthcare 
experience in the region by providing high quality,  
person-centred, and multidisciplinary services.

We want to see more people accessing the services they need 
in the one location, and where possible, during the same 
appointment. Known as ‘integrated’ services, this approach 
allows our clinicians to work together to plan the shared care of 
clients. It also reduces the need for people to repeat their story. 
If you have mental and physical health conditions, we address 
them together. For example, people in palliative care can see a 
nurse about their medication and an exercise physiologist about 
pain management, as well as a counsellor or social worker – all 
within the one appointment.

Our vision of genuinely integrated services is becoming a reality 
– we have created two multidisciplinary hubs in Gippsland that 

deliver nursing, exercise, care coordination, dietetics, podiatry, 
speech pathology and other allied health services, as well as 
respiratory services for adults. These teams also work alongside 
our mental wellbeing and oral health staff, and often coordinate 
care with other organisations where appropriate.

In 2021-22, our integrated primary health teams 
provided six different types of multidisciplinary 
clinics. 

Our multidisciplinary clinics include:

• �Complex Diabetes Clinic

• �Interdisciplinary Diabetes Clinic

• �Diabetes Essentials

• �High Risk Foot Clinic

• �Interdisciplinary Lymphoedema Clinic

• �Early Intervention Clinic for Palliative Care 

Good food leads to better mood

Dozens of Latrobe Valley parents and carers are better 
equipped to cook fresh, healthy meals and grow 
their own produce after a series of ‘mood and food’ 
workshops.

Latrobe Community Health Service teamed up with food 
security coalition Food For All Latrobe Valley to show 
families how food can improve their mental health and 
wellbeing.

The workshops, made possible through the Victorian State 
Government’s Community Activation and Social Isolation 
(CASI) initiative, taught families how to prepare simple 
snacks and healthy meals, grow nutritious foods, and 
improve daily routines to support better mental health.

“Food can affect the way we feel, and emerging evidence 
shows the impact nutrients, food and dietary patterns have 
on mental health,” Health Promotion Officer Gabrielle 
Francis says.

“We know preparing and cooking food can be a great way 
to connect with family and friends, and eating healthy food 
can also benefit our brain and gut health.

“When the opportunity arose to deliver a project that 
increased community connection and reduced social 
isolation, we thought, what better way to achieve this than 
through food and cooking in a group setting?” 

Latrobe City Council granted the CASI funding to deliver six 
‘mood and food’ workshops across the Latrobe Valley.

A Latrobe Community Health Service dietitian and 
counsellor, and two local gardening experts, presented the 
sessions. They helped participants prepare their own healthy 

snacks, plant seedlings in pots, and share stories about how 
they were coping throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.

“One participant told us the workshop introduced them to 
food they hadn’t tried before, and they left willing to try a 
wider variety of fresh produce,” Ms Francis says.

“Another participant said they were keen to grow their own 
food, many were pleased to learn about soil health, while 
one person said socialising with others and learning tips 
about enjoying life were most beneficial to them.

“Several people also showed interest in seeing a dietitian 
and a counsellor. We are confident more Latrobe Valley 
families are making positive lifestyle changes after attending 
these sessions.”
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Gippsland’s future physio workforce undergoes 
placement at Latrobe Community Health 
Service

The first cohort of physio undergraduate students at Federation 
University’s Gippsland campus began their four-year degree in 
2021.

Now in their second year, the students joined Latrobe 
Community Health Service’s exercise groups in 2022 as part of 
their syllabus on neurological and aged care conditions.

Latrobe Community Health Service runs exercise groups that 
focus on falls and balance, and on managing conditions like 
Parkinson’s Disease or stroke recovery with exercise.

Federation University wanted to give students an opportunity 
to reinforce the theory they were learning with a practical 
component. So, students joined our falls and balance group to 
observe, practise techniques and apply their theory in the real 
world.

Students told us:

“I enjoyed seeing the progression of the patients over 
such a short period; I felt it to be very rewarding. It was 
also good to see some of the things we have learnt in 
class actually put into practice.”

“From this experience, it made me feel like a physio 
who is actually working in the environment as if it was a 
job I could enjoy. I especially encourage future students 
to undertake placement at Latrobe Community Health 
Service.”

“It was great to be ‘thrown in the deep end’ while 
working with the clients. While a little daunting at first, it 
was fantastic.”

Eighteen Federation University students joined our exercise 
groups in Semester 1 2022, and in 2023 we will welcome 
another cohort of second-year physio students to join our falls 
and balance group. 

Third-year Federation University students will undertake  
five-week placements with us in 2023, and fourth-year students 
will complete five-week placements in 2024.

Children and young people benefit from  
youth-focused, place-based services

Ten years ago, Latrobe Community Health Service recognised 
many Latrobe Valley families were missing out on affordable 
allied health services that could help improve their child’s 
development. Government-subsidised services were available 
only to those with severe developmental delays, and private 
therapy was often too expensive.

In response, we created a low-cost multidisciplinary children’s 
service that helps children to improve their speech,  
sensory-processing, fine and gross motor skills, and language. 
Today, we are considered a leader in the paediatrics community 
health space.
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living with Type 1 diabetes 
for ten years now.

Andrew’s favourite activities are spending time at 
his local archery club and cooking up a storm at 
home. And he says diabetes hasn’t stopped him 
from doing what he loves.

“Living with diabetes is okay,” Andrew says.

“It’s a commitment (for me) to having medication 
every day. Otherwise, it’s not the huge lifestyle 
changes you’re made to believe.”

Andrew discovered he was living with diabetes after a 
regular check-up with his GP. His doctor took a blood 
sugar level reading, which “went off the meter”, and 
sent him straight to hospital.

“It might have been five or six years before my blood 
sugar got down to single figures,” he says.

He has always taken the condition seriously, and over 
time, has learnt how he can manage his diabetes. For 
Andrew, that involves cutting out sugars and reading 
nutrition information on food packages.

“It’s just watching what you eat,” he says.

“I have two lots of long acting insulin – one at 
morning and one at night. I also have some rapid 
insulin before meals. It helps me to keep my sugar 
levels in check.”

When Andrew moved to Gippsland a couple of 
years ago, he sought the advice of a diabetes 
educator, exercise physiologist and doctor at Latrobe 
Community Health Service. He also sees one of our 
dentists.

“They helped me plan my diet, use calorie count 
books, and got me onto a continuous glucose 
monitoring system,” he says.

Andrew says diabetes can be easy to manage – you 
just need the right mindset and people around you.

“Diabetes is controllable.”
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At the start of the 2017-2022 strategic plan, we employed nine 
staff who delivered the multidisciplinary children’s service and a 
Pathways to Good Health program for children in out-of-home 
care. Over the past five years, we have created a dedicated 
Paediatric and Youth Hub, which consists of more than 28 staff 
members delivering:

Children’s Service: speech pathologists, occupational 
therapists, physiotherapists and allied health assistants helping 
children with mild-to-moderate developmental delay

Pathways to Good Health: a paediatrician, psychologist, 
speech pathologist and nurse coordinator complete 
comprehensive health assessments and health management 
plans for children in out-of-home-care

Healthy Parents Healthy Babies: a nurse helps expecting 
mums give their baby the best possible start to life 

Community Health Nurse in Primary Schools Program: 
community health nurses are based in primary schools and help 
students and their families manage their health and wellbeing

Community Nursing: a community nurse provides health 
education about healthy lifestyle choices, personal development, 
and hygiene

School Readiness: speech pathologists, occupational 
therapists, and psychologists / social and emotional wellbeing 
practitioners work with kindergarten educators and families to 
promote healthy development of children

Speech Pathology in Schools: speech pathologists and 
occupational therapists work with school educators to help 
improve the quality of the language learning environment in the 
early years of primary school

Children’s Dietetics: a dietitian provides advice and strategies 
about children’s growth, feeding and nutrition

Continence: a continence nurse helps children who are wetting 
the bed, experiencing constipation or having accidents during 
the day

Between 1 July 2017 and 30 June 2022, our 
Paediatric and Youth Hub services have:

• �Delivered early intervention and allied health services to 
more than 4,000 children.

• �Delivered nearly 3,000 capacity-building sessions across 
more than 60 kindergartens.

• �Delivered more than 1,500 capacity-building sessions 
across 24 schools.

 

Nurses deliver better health and learning 
outcomes for students – where they learn

In 2017-18, a Morwell primary school approached us about 
basing a community health nurse at their school. They wanted 
to improve the health and wellbeing outcomes of their students 
and families, and promote a supportive learning environment. 

We started the Community Health Nurse in Primary Schools 
Program with funding from the Latrobe Health Assembly and 
the participating school. The following year, we expanded the 
program from one school to four. We evaluated the program 
in 2019-20, and co-designed improvements with the school 
communities. In 2021-22, we are delivering the nursing 
program across seven Latrobe Valley primary schools. 

This financial year, our nurses provided or coordinated  
the provision of:

• �199 instances of care navigation support, which includes 
linking families into other services (paediatricians, counselling, 
etc), and at times actually taking children and their parents to 
appointments.

• �184 health promotion activities such as hygiene talks, puberty 
education, menstruation talks, healthy eating, personal 
hygiene, and mindfulness.

• �647 head lice checks, along with education for children and 
families.

• �164 student hearing checks.

• �69 consultations regarding management of COVID-19.

• �49 consultations concerning children’s continence, linking 
children into continence nursing services and developing 
toileting plans for the children.

We have helped:

• �A student who was limping around the school yard. Our nurse 
discovered their mobility aid was too small, which was causing 
blisters and wounds on the child’s feet. The nurse helped the 
student’s family to make appointments and gain referrals for 
a new mobility aid to be made. This has significantly improved 
the student’s ability to participate at school. 

• �A student who was often vomiting at school and going home 
early as a result. Our nurse helped the student stay at school 
if they felt well enough, and supported the family to see a 
doctor to understand what was causing the vomiting. The 
nurse helped the family make medical appointments, provided 
transport to the appointments, and supported them to follow 
up on the medical team’s recommendations.

• �A student with a severe toothache. Our nurse asked about the 
sore tooth and discovered the student hadn’t been sleeping 
because of the pain. With consent, the nurse made an 
emergency dental appointment for that same day. When the 
student returned to school, they said they slept much better 
because they were now pain-free.
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Helping students access the NDIS

In February 2022, we based a school nurse at a Traralgon 
primary school to help students and families access the NDIS 
and use their NDIS plans.

The school’s welfare officer was concerned about a 
number of students who:

• �May be eligible for the NDIS, but their family had trouble 
applying.

• �Were not using their NDIS plan.

• �Had an NDIS plan, but it didn’t suit their needs.

In partnership with the school and the Victorian Department of 
Families, Fairness, and Housing, we based a nurse at the school 
who was tasked with helping these students and their families.

Between February and June 2022, the nurse:

• �Supported 18 children and their families.

• �Organised speech pathology and occupational therapy 
assessments to support the NDIS applications of six 
children.

• �Referred four children to the NDIS Early Childhood team 
for assessment, planning, and early intervention.

• �Linked four children with NDIS plans into services they 
hadn’t been able to access by themselves.

One family with two children – who both had NDIS plans 
– wasn’t accessing allied health services even though both 
children were eligible. Because of long waitlists and transport 
barriers for the family, the nurse linked them into a virtual allied 
health service provider. The children are now receiving regular 
therapy via telehealth at their school.
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Reading out of poverty

Early literacy charity Reading out of Poverty is 
helping the children and parents we support to 
read more books. 

With a mission to promote children’s language and 
literacy, Reading out of Poverty provides literacy 
resources to families with young children from low 
socio-economic backgrounds.

The charity donated backpacks to our Healthy 
Parents Healthy Babies program, giving expecting 
mums a book about raising healthy children and a 
poster to measure their child’s growth, as well as 
two books they could read to their babies.

Reading out of Poverty also donated seven 
bookshelves – and books to fill these – to our school 
nursing team.

We have now set up mini libraries in each school 
we work within. Children can take a book home to 
read, and this book then becomes their book; there 
is no need to return them.
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headspace Morwell and youth services work to 
improve the emotional and social wellbeing of 
young people

Our headspace Morwell and youth services team saw firsthand 
the impact the COVID-19 pandemic had on the health and 
wellbeing of young people. In 2021-22, we jumped at the 
opportunity to be out and about in the community again, 
helping people improve their mental health.

Our youth alcohol and other drug workers visited the local 
skatepark every week for nine weeks. While cooking up a 
barbecue, the team engaged with local skaters as well as 
parents and children about the services headspace offers.

In June 2022, we held the Gippsland Pride Party at Kernot Hall 
in Morwell. About 100 LGBTQIA+ young people and their allies 
joined us to celebrate diversity. Attendees enjoyed some pizza, 
danced to the tunes of DJ Nige, played some friendly games, 
took lots of happy snaps in a photo booth, and got their faces 
painted.

Our Kids Connect team helps children and young people aged 
0-18 and their families to improve their mental health. We 
deliver this program in partnership with the Victorian Aboriginal 
Child Care Agency. In 2021-22, we delivered a group equine 
therapy program for 12- to 15-year-olds. Participants had four 
horse riding lessons before completing a trail ride in week five. 
They also took part in emotional awareness group sessions. 
Through learning to care for and relate to horses, the young 
people learnt about confidence, mutual respect, and how to 
communicate in an assertive and respectful way. These are 
lessons that can be taken into other areas of their life. Young 
people, their parents and carers told us they noticed an increase 
in:

• �confidence

• �feeling useful

• �relaxation

• �mood

• �decision-making and problem-solving skills

• �thinking more clearly

• �optimism

• �feelings of being loved.

headspace Morwell also welcomed an Early Career Social 
Worker from headspace National as part of the Early Career 
Program. The Early Career Program is aimed at increasing the 
pipeline of mental health staff, and provides clinical education 
and student placement opportunities. We will be welcoming 
students to the centre in 2022-23.

Young people are making, 
creating, and relating

Our headspace Morwell and Paediatric and Youth 
Hub teamed up in 2021-22 to deliver a new craft 
program for young people aged 12-18 years old.

The Make, Create and Relate program aims to give 
young people arts and craft activities to do together, 
while chatting about different health questions in a 
relaxed space.

Our Community Health Nurse and headspace Counsellor 
ran each session together, with six young people 
regularly attending and more people joining as the 
program progressed.

The participants told us they made new friends and 
others said they would change their oral health habits 
after attending the sessions. Other headspace counsellors 
reported positive impacts on their clients’ wellbeing.

We are planning a second Make, Create and Relate 
program in 2022-23 with some adaptations following 
client feedback.
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Co-location sees neurodiverse people access  
services sooner

Young people – including those who are neurodiverse 
– are receiving help sooner, thanks to a new 
partnership between headspace Morwell and Latrobe 
Regional Hospital’s Child and Youth Mental Health 
Service (CYMHS).

For some young people, auditory and visual hallucinations, 
overwhelming ruminations, and obsessive and intrusive 
thoughts can be related to Autism Spectrum Disorder 
(ASD). Some young people may experience panic attacks in 
the context of their ASD, and these can be so severe they 
dissociate, losing the capacity to talk.

CYMHS clinicians co-locate at headspace Morwell five days 
a week to provide:

• �direct clinical care at headspace

• �capacity building and education for headspace staff

• �a more streamlined experience for young people who 
transition between acute and early intervention mental 
health services.

“The CYMHS clinician may use dialectical-informed therapy 
to address the symptoms of anxiety and panic, helping 

young people to understand hallucinations can be a stress 
response that is externalised,” headspace Manager Tenille 
Thorburn says.

“At the same time, our headspace counsellors may leverage 
off a young person’s strengths to increase their motivation 
with things like staying engaged at school or learning a new 
hobby. They will validate a young person’s experience, be a 
trusted support person, and offer strategies to manage low 
mood and stress.”

Both teams reinforce each other’s strengths and expertise 
to provide young people the best possible care, and also 
engage their friends and families to help them manage 
strategies at home.

“This partnership is helping our headspace team to increase 
their own knowledge and confidence when working with 
neurodiverse young people,” Ms Thorburn says.

“Most importantly, the integration of our services has 
certainly resulted in more timely access to the most 
appropriate support for young people in our community.”
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A prevention lens and partnerships focus 
deliver better outcomes 

Preventing health and wellbeing problems through place-
based, partnerships-focused initiatives is one of our key 
priorities at Latrobe Community Health Service. Our Health 
Promotion team works together with early childhood centres, 
schools, workplaces and community facilities such as leisure 
centres and sports clubs to create health-promoting cultures 
where people live, work, learn, and play.

We have spent the most part of 2021-22 planning a Healthy 
Supermarkets – Reach for the Stars project. This will see us 
team up with local supermarkets in 2022-23 to promote the 
fact that all fruit and vegetables – fresh and frozen – are five 
health stars. Using in-store promotional material, along with 
site activations and targeted advertising, we hope to make 
it easier for Latrobe Valley families to choose nutritious food 
over processed products.

Our Gambler’s Help team, which delivers counselling as well 
as community education, spent Gambling Harm Awareness 
Week 2021 sharing people’s lived experience of gambling 
harm. Jamie, a father-of-four, told of his own struggles and 
the steps he took to take back control of his gambling. The 
team hosted two online events, submitted a letter to the 
editor in six Gippsland newspapers, shared Jamie’s story on 
social media, and obtained media coverage across radio and 
newspapers in Gippsland. State Morwell MP Russell Northe 
mentioned our efforts in the Victorian Parliament.

Our Settlement, Engagement and Transition Support team 
engages with newly-arrived migrants and refugees to 
address their needs, and advance their social and economic 
inclusion in Gippsland. Acknowledging women from 
refugee backgrounds are at-risk of physical and sexual 
violence, financial abuse, and social isolation, we received 
additional funding to help address family violence. Our staff 
members received specialist family violence training. We 
also hosted four forums that aimed to enhance financial 
literacy, digital literacy, navigating the service system, and 
self-esteem among refugee and migrant women. The women 
demonstrated increased knowledge and skills, particularly in 
relation to taking control of their finances. They also became 
empowered to engage in regular self-care.

Latrobe Community Health Service also employs a 
Multicultural Strategic Engagement team that works to 
improve the social, economic and education outcomes 
of Gippsland’s multicultural community. We auspice 
organisations and community groups to deliver projects 
designed to achieve these objectives. During Refugee Week 
2022, we supported My Community Libraries across Baw 
Baw, Bass Coast, and South Gippsland to facilitate ‘Myli 
in Real Life’ sessions. Speakers from a migrant or refugee 
background shared their stories of life in their countries 
of origin, their journey to Australia, and what it was like 
to start a new life in Gippsland. Participants told us how 
appreciative and enriched they were after these encounters, 
which they may not ordinarily have had. Attendees asked 
how Gippslanders could welcome migrants and ease the 
challenges of settling into a new country and way of life.

Engaging First Nations men to help take back 
control of gambling

Our Gambler’s Help team has partnered with the Gippsland 
East Gippsland Aboriginal Cooperative (GEGAC) to better 
support First Nations community members who are 
experiencing gambling harm.

Three staff members – a woman from Latrobe Community 
Health Service and two men from GEGAC – are breaking 
down cultural barriers, and encouraging community 
members to yarn about their experiences of gambling and 
seek help.

Together, we have hosted fishing, golf, barbecue, walks, 
budgeting sessions, and community days across Gippsland – 
all with the aim to encourage people to talk about gambling 
harm.

The partnership sees GEGAC staff focus on improving the 
community’s financial capability, and our financial counsellor 
– who works from GEGAC’s Morwell office every fortnight – 
does one-on-one case work for individual clients. 

The team also visits Wulgunggo Ngalu Learning Place in 
Yarram every month, where First Nations men learn about 
gambling harm in a culturally-appropriate learning place.

This partnership has led to increased engagement and 
referrals among Gippsland’s First Nations community. Elders 
are working on gambling harm in the community, and we are 
receiving more referrals.

In 2021-22, we received 45 referrals from the First Nations 
community – a 150 percent increase on the previous year. 
In 2022-23, our financial counsellor will also visit GEGAC’s 
Bairnsdale office every fortnight.
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Giving refugees and migrants a voice

Finding jobs for Gippsland’s multicultural 
job seekers

Nearly 40 Gippsland jobseekers have found secure 
employment, thanks to Latrobe Community Health 
Service’s Community Employment Connector program.

The program started in September 2021 with funding 
from the Victorian State Government, and helps Gippsland 
residents from a multicultural background to overcome 
barriers and secure a job or start studying.

“We help our clients to write resumes and cover letters. 
We educate them about the Australian tax system and 
workers’ rights. We also help them submit job applications 
and transfer overseas qualifications to something that’s 
recognised within Australia, if possible,” Community 
Employment Connector Nicole McNeilage says.

“If we aren’t able to help directly, we use our connections 
to link our clients to other services, including career 
counsellors or social workers.”

Our Community Employment Connectors work across the 
entire Gippsland region, and have connected with close to 
150 people since the program began.

“The scope of what we do is quite broad, and sometimes 
finding a job isn’t the only answer,” Ms McNeilage says.

“Often we will provide more general support, and help our 
clients with things like rental applications and setting up 
bank accounts.

“These are all tasks that support our clients’ wellbeing 
more generally, and also form the foundation for them to 
access the community and secure reliable employment.”

Migrants and refugees share hopes of 
‘greener pastures’ in Gippsland

A short film that shares the trauma, hope, courage 
and resilience of Gippsland’s multicultural community 
is hoped to change the experience for migrants and 
refugees settling in the region.

Latrobe Community Health Service partnered with 
production company StoryIsConnection to produce 
‘Greener Pastures’.

“When we initially planned Greener Pastures, our aim 
was to start important and challenging conversations 
around racism and inclusion, and welcome those from 
multicultural backgrounds into the Gippsland community,” 
Multicultural Strategic Partnerships Coordinator Goshu 
Tefera says.

“By doing this we hope to create a welcoming 
environment for migrants and refugees, where they feel 
comfortable making new friends, trying new things and 
accessing services within their community.”

Arts director Catherine Simmonds OAM produced Greener 
Pastures by engaging with migrants and refugees who 
attend our multicultural friendship groups in Wonthaggi 
and Warragul.

The film premiered during Cultural Diversity Week 2022 
with four screenings at Gippsland’s premier performing arts 
centres. Attendees heard from those who featured in the 
film during a panel discussion led by the director.

“The discussion panels provided an opportunity for those 
in attendance to ask questions and learn a little more 
about what it’s like to come to a new country and not have 
a support network around you,” Dr Tefera says.

“Many people said they didn’t realise the impact a simple 
‘hello’ could have on someone who is settling into a new 
area.”

The aim is for Greener Pastures to become a tool local 
health services, councils and other service providers use 
to educate their staff and the broader community about 
inclusive practices.
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Latrobe Community Health Service’s workforce has 
remained committed to responding to COVID-19. Not only 
have our services continued in the face of the pandemic, 
but throughout 2021-22, we deployed dedicated teams 
tasked with protecting our communities.

We conducted 5,836 polymerase chain reaction 
(PCR) tests for the Moe community

A senior citizens’ centre in Moe, the Latrobe Valley, was 
transformed into a temporary COVID-19 testing centre in 2021.

The walk-through site, which opened in July 2021, provided 
the Moe and Newborough township with a local testing facility, 
meaning residents didn’t have to drive to another town to get 
tested.

Available every Tuesday and Thursday – and also on Friday and 
Sunday during peak periods – the testing centre saw on average 
39 clients each day. 

We trained 79 Latrobe Community Health Service 
employees in administration and swabbing. 

And staff members from all across the organisation – 
including dental, nursing, allied health, marketing, human 
resources, and facilities – worked shifts at the clinic.

• �5,836 PCR tests over 130 sessions between July 2021 
and June 2022 

• �Distributed more than 500 rapid antigen tests (RATS)

• �225 was the highest number of tests in a day – in 
October 2021

• �Averaged 100 people per opening session during peak 
outbreak in October and November 2021 

 
Mobile vaccination van reaches more than  
300 Gippsland residents

Latrobe Community Health Service teamed up with the 
Gippsland Primary Health Network and the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service to vaccinate some of Gippsland’s most remote and 
vulnerable residents.

A can-do attitude and modified work car helped the team 
vaccinate more than 300 people across 32 locations.

Using a portable fridge to keep the vaccinations at the required 
temperature, a team of six nurse immunisers travelled from 
Drouin to Bruthen, and many towns in-between.

We visited people in their homes, at supported accommodation 
facilities, caravan parks, and pop-up vaccination sites in the 
middle of town.

A young boy with Autism Spectrum Disorder became distressed 
during his first vaccination after his family travelled the long 
distance to Melbourne. We worked with the family to put some 
strategies in place for his second vaccination, and visited the 
boy at home where he felt comfortable. We administered the 
second vaccination with the boy lying on the couch, watching 
TV. His mother was so grateful for our outreach service; it made 
her son’s immunisation much easier as he was not distressed, 
and they did not have to spend an entire day in Melbourne.

The funding for this program has been extended, so the service 
will continue into the second half of 2022.

Helping people in shared housing live in a 
COVID-safe way

Two mobile teams – one in Inner Gippsland and the other in 
the City of Monash – worked throughout 2021-22 to help 
shared housing residents stay safe and well amid the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Established in 2020-21, the teams’ initial focus was on 
educating people about how to live in a COVID-safe way in 
communal settings.

Our focus shifted in 2021-22 to a vast and varied COVID-19 
response. We tested entire accommodation facilities for 
COVID-19, helped residents isolate by delivering groceries and 
medication, and helped people get vaccinated by either taking 
them to vaccination hubs or bringing a vaccination to them. 
 

In the Inner Gippsland region, we:

• �Helped residents of community and public housing, 
rooming houses, caravan parks and supported 
accommodation settings to get vaccinated, leading to 
370 vaccinations.

• �Administered 602 PCR tests for people in their home.

• �Supported 254 people after they tested positive to 
COVID-19.

In the City of Monash, we:

• �Partnered with EACH to deliver 41 vaccination clinics at 
local halls, neighbourhood houses, community housing 
settings, and schools.

• �Vaccinated 1,100 residents at these vaccination clinics.

• �Supported close to 500 people after they tested positive 
to COVID-19.

Both teams delivered food relief, medication, in-home COVID 
testing and RAT tests to isolating residents, and even helped 
walk dogs and take pets to vet appointments. 

Our response to COVID-19
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We also referred residents in need to the NDIS, My Aged Care, 
housing, mental health triage services, ambulance call-out / 
assessment, child protection, family violence and homelessness 
services.

At the start of 2022, we received additional funding to reach 
other vulnerable population groups, such as people who speak 
English as a second language, people with disability, and 
people with health conditions such as needle phobias. Our aim 
was to educate people about vaccinations, hopefully leading to 
them getting vaccinated.

Between March and June 2022, we engaged more than 200 
community members in Inner Gippsland, which led to 131 
vaccinations. Between February and June 2022, we engaged 
1,046 community members in the Monash local government 
area, which led to 600 vaccinations.

A key factor of our success was our community engagement 
approach. We focused on building relationships in the first 
instance, so people could trust us with their COVID-19 
questions and concerns. Across Gippsland and Monash, 
we held community lunches and barbecues, and celebrated 

cultural events such as Ramadan, Hindi New Year, and 
Harmony Week. We teamed up with Monash Health and 
Monash University to engage a large international student 
population, and we took Gippsland residents on outings to San 
Remo and Walhalla where many had not ventured before.
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Strategic priority two
Grow our organisation to deliver services across Australia.

GOALS:

n Achieve coverage across Australia for aged care and disability services

n Achieve growth in aged care and disability services within Victoria

n �Grow user-pays services in aged care (across Australia) and dentistry  
(within Gippsland) to diversify revenue sources

Our mission is to improve the health and 
social wellbeing of Australians. 

To achieve this, we need diversified revenue streams 
and sustainable growth across different sectors to 
ensure our longevity as a charitable, for-purpose 
organisation.

While growth is a key focus for Latrobe Community 
Health Service, we have been careful not to grow 
beyond our purpose. Instead, we have grown in 
areas that are true to our values and vision. Aged 
and disability services, along with dentistry, align with 
our core business. They also present opportunities to 

reach more people in more communities.

Since 2017-18, we have:

n �Partnered with the National Disability Insurance 
Agency (NDIA) to help roll out the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) across regional 
Victoria, Melbourne, and Sydney.

n �Grown our Home Care Packages by 147 percent.

n �Responded to the growing demand for aged care 
support workers.

n �Opened the Latrobe Valley University Training 
Clinic and Dental Prosthetic Laboratory in 
Churchill.

n �Established the Smile Squad school dental program 
in the Latrobe and Monash local government 
areas.
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Celebrating Australians with 
disability

Brodie Smythe is in the business of  
helping people.

The 28-year-old is studying community services with 
the hope to get a job as a youth worker. He is a leader 
at his local church. He volunteers at a residential aged 
care facility. And he is a member of the Inner Gippsland 
Inclusion Working Group, which aims to improve access in 
the region for people of all abilities.

“I can be pretty passionate about it,” Brodie says.

“I would love it if there was absolutely zero discrimination. 
I have been sacked from a job in town, because I was, in 
their words, a liability. That just doesn’t fly with me.

“There is a guy at the local supermarket with cerebral 
palsy who walks around and helps people at the self-serve 
checkouts. We need more of that.”

Brodie lives with autism and epilepsy. He takes pain 
medication every day to help with injuries sustained from 
epilepsy, “just so I can function”. He has a habit of falling 
– again due to injuries from epilepsy – and feels safer 
going about town when someone is with him. He uses 
a whiteboard to remind him to take his medication, and 
to keep on top of due dates for his course work. He also 
prefers communicating “using means” like text messages 
and emails.

A trusted NDIS partner in the community

 

Latrobe Community Health Service has delivered the NDIS 
in partnership with the NDIA since 2016. Today, we are the 
NDIS Partner in the Community in ten service areas spanning 
regional Victoria, Melbourne and Sydney. We deliver both Local 
Area Coordination (LAC) services and the Early Childhood (EC) 
approach, and support more than 71,000 people.

Our impact is evident in many participant stories. Teenager 
Nathan* is riding to school, engaging in leisure activities, 
and growing confident thanks to the NDIS. Nathan lives with 
autism, hyperactivity, anxiety and low muscle tone. Unable to 
ride a standard bike, Nathan became socially isolated when 
his peers started riding to school. Our LAC helped Nathan’s 
family engage an occupational therapist and request an e-bike, 
and linked him in with road safety and e-bike classes when his 
assistive technology was approved. We also connected him 
to headspace and a community drumming school to help him 
achieve his goals. Nathan uses his e-bike every day to get to 
school and other activities with his friends. His carer told us the 
NDIS has changed his life.

Mandarin-speaking Lucy* lives with polio and uses a wheelchair 
for mobility. Her husband is her carer, but he works full-time. 
Our Mandarin-speaking LAC identified Lucy experienced 
cultural and language barriers, had limited support and 
understanding of the NDIS, and her physical mobility was 
impacting her wellbeing. We connected Lucy to Mandarin-
specific service providers, and referred her husband to a 
Chinese carer support group. We also taught Lucy how to use 
a phone interpreting service, which she uses when out in the 
community. 

Thanks to these changes, Lucy can now:

• �Swim weekly with a support worker

• �Get in and out of bed and chairs independently using assistive 
technology

• �Experience less muscle pain and improved mobility and 
wellbeing with her increased exercise

The parents of Arlo*, a 5-year-old boy, were concerned he 
would disrupt the classroom and become socially isolated due 
to his anger and emotional ‘outbursts’. Together with the 
family, we developed strategies around emotional regulation 
and improving his attention span at home and school. We 
wrote social stories with Arlo about what he could do “when 
I am angry” and “when I am excited”. We linked his family 
into a parenting network, and invited them to our information 
sessions. Within six months, Arlo is engaging in class, regulating 
his emotions well, and making many friends.

Created 9,282 
first plans

Reviewed 
55,616 plans

�Supported 71,631 
NDIS participants

In 2021-22, our NDIS teams:
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Brodie has an NDIS plan, which has taught him how to set 
goals and believe he is capable of achieving those goals. 
He says the support he’s received through his plan has 
helped him become the independent, confident person he 
is today.

“I feel like a regular, everyday person,” he says.

“I don’t feel like I’m a ‘disabled person’ discarded to the 
side.

“I can do a lot of things that you can do – not everything, 
but a lot of things … I am more like everyone else. Nobody 
knows I have a disability now unless I say it.”

And he wants others living with disability to have the same 
experience.

Brodie recently got his driver’s licence and bought his first 
car.

He is halfway through his study and when he finishes, he 
wants to work with young people who haven’t had the 
same guidance he’s had growing up.

He is assessing the accessibility of parks and playgrounds 
in his local area so kids with disability can enjoy playing 
outside just like everyone else.

He is also advocating for more support for disability 
support workers so they have a safe space to debrief and 
recharge.

“It (helping others) is fulfilling, 100 percent. I love it,” 
Brodie says.

“I just want everyone to have an equal opportunity.”

Eleven-year-old Vili is on the go from the 
minute he wakes up until his head hits the 
pillow at night.

“Vili is a very jovial, playful, cheeky, happy 11-year-old,” 
mum Leanne says.

“He loves Toy Story toys and playing repetitively 
throughout his day, but more than anything, Vili loves the 
water; he’s a different kid around water.”

Vili was diagnosed with regressive autism at the age of 
two. He is non-verbal. He also lives with ADHD, OCD and a 
moderate intellectual disability.

Vili swims every week in a group setting. A visual kid, he 
has learnt to communicate using pictures. Vili will go to 
school with a new electronic communication device that 
helps him communicate how he feels and what he needs. 
He will also work towards communicative independence, 

which includes communicating about topics like money, 
feelings, and the weather.

“Vili needs a significant level of structure in his life to help 
manage his disability, which he’s been lucky enough to receive 
from the NDIS and the awesome team of allied health staff 
who support him daily,” Leanne says.

Through a mix of NDIS and self-funding, Vili has a team of 
11 professionals who help him with everything from speech 
therapy, occupational therapy and behavioural therapy, to 
dental care and continence. His support workers teach him life 
skills to improve his independence, such as food preparation, 
general hygiene and grooming, and accessing the community.

Vili’s service dog, Tubby, goes everywhere with him. And when 
Vili’s older, Leanne hopes Vili may be well positioned to make it 
to the Paralympics.

“Anything is possible in life,” she says. 

“I just want Vili to be positioned in life to experience things he 
likes – not be confined to four walls,” she says.

“I think he’d be content with that.”
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Everyone deserves to participate in and contribute to the life 
of their community, and when they do, the lives of people and 
Australian communities are richer for it. Stories like Nathan’s, 
Lucy’s, and Arlo’s are the reason we became an NDIS Partner in 
the Community. And they remain our inspiration to expand our 
impact into more communities across Australia.

(*We have not used participants’ real names)

In 2021-22, we have enhanced our service 
excellence

This past financial year, we have made changes in our NDIS 
service delivery approach to ensure we deliver timely, person-
centred service excellence for everyone – no matter where they 
live.

We have harnessed our scale across ten service areas to 
make sure any team experiencing higher demand or staff 
shortages due to leave continues to provide vital services to the 
community. We forecast the demand six months in advance to 
identify service areas that may need support from other teams, 
and identify the teams that may be able to provide that support. 
This means our NDIS staff not only provide localised, place-
based services where they live. They also deliver virtual support 
across regional Victoria, Melbourne and Sydney, meaning every 
participant receives continuity of services.

Our newly-established Participant Experience Response Team 
monitors our national 1800 customer service number, and is the 
first port of call for all NDIS queries. We answer between 450 
and 500 phone calls every day and on average about 9,000 calls 
a month. We answer 80 percent of these within 10 seconds.

Our new Monitoring team checks in on people to ensure NDIS 
participants are using their plans, and their plans are meeting 
their needs. We contact a select number of participants each 
day – from all service areas – to offer follow-up support, review 
their progress, and help them implement their NDIS plans. 
We checked in on an NDIS participant who has a hearing 
impairment. He wasn’t using his NDIS plan, which includes 
funding for his cochlear implants. Although his plan covered 
everything he needed, the participant told us he didn’t know 
how to use it. We spent time with him and his wife, stepping 
them through the process. With this support, the participant 
ordered the items he needed. He is now using assistive 
technology and navigating the NDIS portal independently.

We will continue to improve our service delivery model to 
ensure more people are living their version of a quality and 
fulfilling life.

Helping Australians receive the services  
they need

Over the past five years, aged care services has been an area of 
significant growth for Latrobe Community Health Service. We 
are well into our third decade of delivering home care services, 
carer support programs, and aged care assessment services for 
older Australians. And our team and client base continue to 
grow. 

We provide our own direct home care service, Your Care 
Choice, and made the strategic decision to grow this service 
outside of Gippsland in 2019-20. Our revenue from Your Care 
Choice has experienced a three-fold increase since 2017-18. 
Our Commonwealth Home Support Program work expanded 
with additional funding and the merger of Link Health and 
Community in 2020-21. Our Home Care Package client base 
grew by 147 percent between 2017-18 and 2021-22. And in 
2021-22, we delivered nearly 18,000 hours of service to 768 
carers in Gippsland.

Over the last financial year, we have strengthened 
our focus on quality and safety. Our Home Care 
Services team has:

• �Grown our service coordination and care advisor team 
to ensure every client receives person-centred and timely 
care.

• �Employed a workplace trainer who is tasked with 
developing and delivering aged care-specific training 
across our team.

• �Employed a brokerage officer in our Governance team, 
who is responsible for onboarding our service providers 
with stringent quality and safety checks.

• �Worked alongside the Aged Care Quality and Safety 
Commission to ensure our practices align with the 
Charter of Aged Care Rights. 

• �Improved our communication with clients through our 
quarterly newsletter, postal letters, and phone calls.

Carers and families benefit from  
our support

We offer a wide range of support options for older Australians, 
Australians living with disability, and those with chronic and 
complex conditions. Not only do we provide direct care and care 
coordination for older Australians, but we also:

• �Profile the experiences of people with disability, mental health 
issues, and chronic conditions, to make sure they can access 
the services they need.

• �Help those living with dementia and memory loss to access 
services to help them manage these conditions.

• �Deliver a range of events, education, and carer support groups 
for people who care for a loved one. 

Strong demand for our Linkages case management program 
in Gippsland led to the employment of an additional two staff 
members to deliver this service. 

Linkages is a short-term service for people aged 6-65 who are 
living with disability and / or complex health conditions. We link 
them with appropriate support networks and services that can 
help them live the life they choose. 
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After 53 years of marriage, John and Liz know a  
thing or two about caring for each other.

The husband and wife have approached life doing 
everything together, and that has remained true ever 
since Liz’s health took a turn.

“I had a series of heart attacks,” Liz says. “My heart is good 
now, but I have developed fibromyalgia and rheumatoid 
arthritis, meaning some days I can’t do much. I’ve also been 
diagnosed with generalised neuropathy, which makes me 
very unsteady.”

John is Liz’s full-time carer. He cooks, cleans, does the 
washing, and mows the lawns.

“I do everything but iron,” he says.

But he initially had a hard time seeing himself as a carer.

“I don’t know where the husband role ends and the carer 
role starts,” he says. “I just find it’s part of my role as Liz’s 
husband.” 

And, the caring role goes both ways.

John has diabetes and coeliac disease, and Liz is there 
during his highs and lows.

“We do care for each other,” Liz says. “We do it, because 
we love each other. We’re certainly not doing it for any 
money!”

The couple joined a carer support program, Carer Programs, 
at Latrobe Community Health Service a few years ago. 

John admits it took some persuading for him to join, but 
after a few discussions with the Latrobe Community Health 
Service crew and meeting some other local carers, the 
couple hasn’t looked back.

Through Carer Programs, carers and the people they care 
for receive education and training, and attend carer 

catch-up groups where they meet with and learn from other 
carers. 

They can also receive brokered services such as home care 
or respite, and participate in activities that help them take a 
break from the caring relationship. 

“What haven’t we done (with Carer Programs)?” Liz says. 
“We’ve done painting, ceramics, all sorts of online talks and 
information, tai chi, exercises … We have a regular morning 
tea, and started a book club. It is great meeting other 
people.”

As for any other challenge life throws their way, John and 
Liz agree they’re in it together.

“All our lives, we’ve done things together,” John says. “That 
creates a special bond between the two of you – if you’re 
doing things together, you’re used to it (being that way).”

We help:

• �GPs complete NDIS application forms correctly.

• �People access occupational therapy and psychological 
assessments to support their NDIS applications. 

• �Advocate for people who are struggling to find appropriate 
support services.

We helped a woman who had fallen down her front steps 
multiple times to get some safety rails installed. The woman 
couldn’t afford them herself, and wasn’t sure what funding was 
available to her. We arranged the safety rails on her behalf, and 
she is much safer at home as a result.

In 2021-22, with the addition of two new staff members, we 
have halved our waitlist and are getting clients the support they 
need much sooner.

Our Dementia Access and Support Worker in East Gippsland 
regularly meets with local agencies, including police, to educate 
them about how dementia and memory loss can impact 
someone’s behaviour.

This led to the police referring a man who’d been contacting 
the local station several times a day, advising his belongings 
had been stolen. We arranged two assessments: the first with 
a dementia nurse consultant, and the second for government-
funded aged care services at home. The man is now involved 
in his community, no longer contacts the police about stolen 
belongings, and often tells us he is happy.
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Dementia and memory loss is a difficult world to navigate for 
most families. Some people find it difficult to come to terms 
with their diagnosis, and are not thrilled about our visits. Our 
Dementia Access and Support Worker in Bass Coast says the 
best part about the role is spending quality time with people to 
build trust. 

“I recently visited a woman with dementia who was very 
reluctant to see me. Her family was concerned she would 
become upset and aggressive. We talked for over an hour 
about her life, family and home, before talking about 
available services. By the end of my visit, the woman had 
shown me around her home and garden, gave me some 
eggs from her chooks, and her husband had presented 
me with some home-roasted nuts. As we said goodbye, 
the woman shared that she hadn’t wanted me to come, 
but she ended up enjoying my visit and said I could drop 
in any time. We are continuing to work together to 
slowly introduce services that can help her manage her 
dementia. Each time we talk, she and her husband ask 
me to drop by again for some more eggs and nuts.” 

 
Keeping Victorians smiling

Our dental services were the hardest hit by COVID-19 
lockdowns and restrictions during 2020-21 and 2021-22. 
In 2020, all dental services in Victoria stopped except for 
emergency treatment. In 2021, dental clinicians shifted to a 
principle-based approach, meaning they could see clients with 
urgent needs as well as those who may experience adverse 
outcomes if treatment was delayed.

Our dental team continued to adapt and respond to the 
evolving service delivery environment. In 2021, we developed 
a new triage system and risk assessment tool to help clinicians 
balance the risk of COVID-19 community transmission against 
delayed dental treatment. 

The tool, inspired by Dental Health Services Victoria’s (DHSV) 
specialist COVID-19 planning group, helped dental clinicians 
make consistent and balanced decisions about who was able 
to access dental care during restrictions. Following a simple 
framework, our clinicians asked a series of questions, engaging 
their patients as informed partners in the process, to help arrive 
at the most appropriate decision for that patient within the 
context of COVID-19. 

Our clinicians reported feeling much more confident in their 
decision-making, knowing there was a robust process behind 
them. DHSV acknowledged the value of the triaging tool and 
shared it with all public dental agencies across the state.

Teaching Victoria’s future dental workforce

Most Victorian dental agencies closed their doors to student 
placements amid the pandemic. But Latrobe Community Health 
Service was among the few public dental clinics in Victoria to 
continue student placements throughout 2020-21 and 2021-22.

The University of Melbourne and the Melbourne Dental School 
commended our regional and metro dental teams for our 
commitment to student placement in a COVID-safe clinical 
setting and work environment.

Our Gippsland dental service was also shortlisted in the 2022 
Victorian Rural Health Awards for the ‘outstanding contribution 
by a rural health team’ category. The nomination was in relation 
to our commitment to providing dental student placements 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. We not only continued 
our dental student placement program throughout the 
pandemic, but increased the number of placement opportunities 
at Latrobe Community Health Service.

Between 1 May 2020 and 31 December 2021 in 
Gippsland:

• �3,713 Latrobe Community Health Service clients 
received dental care delivered by students – 23 percent 
more clients than the previous 17 months.

• �159 students completed one or more placements with 
Latrobe Community Health Service – a 96 percent 
increase in students compared with the previous  
17 months. 

In a supporting letter, the University of Melbourne’s Melbourne 
Dental School described our student placement program as a 
critical contribution to the timely graduation of 2020 and 2021 
dental student cohorts.

We also attract ongoing employees through our student 
placement program. In 2022, we employed a graduate dentist 
and two graduate oral health therapists who completed student 
placement with us.

Improving the oral health of Victoria’s most 
vulnerable

Latrobe Community Health Service partners with organisations 
such as Windana Drug and Alcohol Recovery and Neami 
National to improve the oral health and wellbeing of vulnerable 
Victorians.

Our metro dental team resumed an old partnership in  
2021-22 after COVID-19 restrictions were lifted. At Neami’s 
Youth Residential Recovery Service, we engage with young 
people who are at higher risk of oral disease.

In 2021-22, we invited the young people to reflect on their oral 
health needs and goals, and the barriers they experience when 
accessing dental care. We asked them what an excellent service 
experience looks like in their eyes, and co-designed oral health 
education and treatment sessions using these insights. 

Our oral health therapist team completed examinations through 
group oral health education and peer-supported dental  
check-ups. The young people told us they had a “great” dental 
experience, and “did not feel uncomfortable at all”. 
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In Gippsland, we are funded to deliver dental outreach at 
supported accommodation settings. We aim to improve 
residents’ oral health and wellbeing through education, 
assessments, and treatment. This initiative recognises 
preventative healthcare and maintaining oral hygiene helps to 
maintain a person’s independence and quality of life.

We visit each setting twice a year to provide dental screening 
and oral health education, and make referrals for residents 
who need dental treatment. We also give everyone an oral 
health pack to help them maintain good oral health habits by 
themselves. 

We also continued our relationship with the Windana 
Therapeutic Community in Maryknoll, northwest of Warragul, 
in 2021-22. Windana Therapeutic Community is a 77-bed 
residential facility for people recovering from alcohol and other 
drug misuse. 

Our partnership began in 2014 when we learnt of the difficulty 
Windana residents faced in accessing comprehensive dental 
care. Poor oral health and aesthetics can severely impact 
a person’s rehabilitation. Now Windana residents visit our 
Warragul dental clinic for check-ups and treatment. This is an 
integral step in rehabilitating and building a non-addict identity. 
Building a non-addict identity involves finding and developing 
new activities, jobs and relationships, a process that is greatly 
hindered by constantly dealing with pain or embarrassment 
from teeth.

Smile Squad rolls into Monash primary schools

In 2020-21, we received funding to deliver the Victorian 
Government’s Smile Squad outreach program across primary 
schools in Monash and Latrobe. Although COVID-19 restrictions 
– which saw many students learn from home – impacted our 
service delivery, we visited our first Monash school on 18 July 
2021. 

Between COVID-19 lockdowns, we provided dental check-ups 
to 1,183 children from five primary schools across the City 
of Monash. Post lockdowns, our metro and Gippsland Smile 
Squads have prioritised providing services to Victoria’s most 
vulnerable children who experience the highest oral health 
needs. We provided dental examinations for children with 
complex health needs, multiple disabilities and intellectual 
disabilities at Glenallen and Monash Special Developmental 
Schools. 

The return of Victoria’s dental 
vans keeping kids smiling

It’s been more than a decade since the Link Health and 
Community (Link HC) dental van visited Albany Rise Primary 
School.

And in 2021, the same team of experienced clinicians 
returned to the school – this time in a new, state-of-the-art 
dental van.

Link HC last visited Albany Rise in 2008 as part of the state’s 
last school dental program. Dental Therapists Manar Maroky 
and Nootu Isamaela, and Dental Assistant Kaylee Mitchell, 
are among the three original team members who returned 
to the school in 2021-22.

“Picking Albany Rise to start the Smile Squad program 
was just a coincidence really, but for us it was like a family 
reunion. It’s very special,” Ms Maroky says.

Albany Rise is one of 34 primary schools in the area to 
benefit from the Smile Squad program, which will provide 
free dental care to more than 23,000 children in eligible 
schools in the Monash LGA.

“The Smile Squad program is a very proactive, accessible 
and practical way for families at Albany Rise Primary School 
to access the highest quality dental services, and learn about 
good oral hygiene and dental care,” Principal Judith Drew 
says.

Ms Drew said Albany Rise staff had witnessed the impact 
the program has had on children’s wellbeing and general 
health, with regular dental care improving students’ learning 
and self-esteem.

We provided dental  
check-ups to 1,183 children 
from five primary schools 
across the City of Monash.
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Churchill manufacturing facility goes from 
strength to strength

Latrobe Community Health Service’s state-of-the-art dental 
prosthetics laboratory and university training clinic went from 
strength to strength in 2021-22.

The Churchill-based facility, which opened in December 
2017 with funding from the Victorian and Commonwealth 
governments, is manufacturing dentures for the Latrobe Valley, 
Monash, Bass Coast and Mornington Peninsula communities.

The Victorian Minister for Regional Development toured the site 
in March 2022 after we secured two new contracts with other 
Victorian community health organisations – Bass Coast Health 
(2019) and Peninsula Health (2022).

The contracts will inject $6 million dollars into the Gippsland 
economy over the next three years.

Latrobe Community Health Service now employs nine people 
who are making dentures at the Churchill laboratory. Three of 
our staff members have also completed their dental technician 
apprenticeships at the lab, which we provided in partnership 
with RMIT University. In December 2021, trainee prosthetic 
laboratory technicians Ashleigh Angwin and Lisa Palmer joined 
dental technician Frank Berend in graduating from their course 
in dental technology as part of our apprenticeship program.

At Latrobe Community Health Service, we are proud to create 
local jobs, build links with the higher education sector, and 
develop new manufacturing capacity in the Latrobe Valley. The 
prosthetics laboratory is an asset to our organisation, to the 
local community, and to the Victorian dental industry more 
broadly.
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Strategic priority three
Innovate to improve client outcomes.

GOALS:

n �Use technology innovatively to improve client outcomes

n Use research to drive improvement in client outcomes

At Latrobe Community Health Service, 
innovation is a new or improved program, 
process, system or capability that delivers 
improved client outcomes.

Our vision is that innovation will enable our 
organisation to improve the health and social 
wellbeing of Australians. 

Technology and research are the foundations of 
innovation at Latrobe Community Health Service. 
Telehealth, for example, wouldn’t be possible 
without videoconferencing technology. Research 
allows us to gather the required evidence to 
understand which interventions work for clients, and 
which ones need refining.

Since 2017-18, we have focused on:

n �Using technology to improve client outcomes

n �Using research to drive improvements 

To achieve this, we have:

n �Continued to invest in research via the Latrobe 
Community Health Service Research Council and 
CEO Research Grant. 

n �Continued to invest in technology that helps us 
improve the way we do things.

n �Defined what innovation means to our 
organisation.

n �Developed an innovation framework that outlines 
our approach to testing and trying new ideas.

n �Employed an Innovation Projects Lead who helps 
bring new ideas to life.
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Testing our innovation approach

We developed the Latrobe Community Health Service 
Innovation Strategy with the vision of using innovation to 
improve the health and wellbeing outcomes of the clients and 
communities we serve. To use innovation in this way, we firstly 
needed to get our organisation ‘innovation-ready’. 

Although innovation already occurs across our organisation, 
prior to implementing our strategy, there was no formal 
approach to trying new ways of doing things. We want 
innovation to become part of our culture – a culture in which 
staff feel safe to try new things, and also feel safe to fail.

 

Helping people manage their medication through a  
community health pharmacist

Latrobe Community Health Service has trialled the 
employment of a community pharmacist to help people 
understand and use their medication safely.

The trial comes after our Chronic Disease Management team 
identified many people who use a range of medications 
were at risk of medication-related harm.

Research shows 50 percent of medication-related harms are 
preventable and up to 50 percent of people with chronic 
diseases do not take their prescribed medication correctly, or 
at all.

Using a new innovation framework, and led by an 
Innovation Projects Lead, Latrobe Community Health Service 
employed a community pharmacist over a six-month period.

“Many people with chronic or complex conditions are 
prescribed multiple medications, but not everyone knows 
how to take them properly and others are concerned about 
the impact certain medications have on other aspects of 
their health,” Executive Director Primary Health Andrina 
Romano says. 

“By employing a community pharmacist, whose role is 
to review people’s medication and educate them about 
appropriate consumption, we are acknowledging this 
profession as a subject matter expert in medication and 
taking pressure off the whole healthcare system.”

Focus groups and interviews revealed although people trust 
their doctor’s advice, the shortage and turnover of doctors 
locally was a big concern.

“Continuity of care, frustration at retelling their story, 
explaining medications to new doctors, and a lack of 
communication between GPs and traditional pharmacists 
were all raised as concerns,” Ms Romano says.

The community pharmacist worked within our Integrated 
Primary Health Services team, and saw clients with chronic 
conditions who were taking at least five medications more 
than 12 times a day.

In one-on-one appointments, the pharmacist spoke to 38 
clients about their medication, including any side-effects 
they’d experienced.

After reviewing each client’s medication list, the pharmacist 
also provided advice and communicated concerns with 
clients’ doctors.

Every client was positive about the community pharmacist 
service, and reflected a desire for it to continue.

“Clients told us they intend to use the service again if 
available, and the information given and questions answered 
meant they had ‘no need’ to raise these questions with their 
GP,” Ms Romano says. 

A program evaluation identified opportunities and scope 
for this role to grow – from a sole practitioner to a team of 
community pharmacists working alongside doctors, nurses, 
aged care, alcohol and other drugs specialists, and the 
chronic disease team.

Latrobe Community Health Service is recruiting an ongoing 
permanent position for a non-dispensing community 
pharmacist, with plans to expand the role.
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So, we employed an Innovation Projects Lead and created a 
six-step process to guide staff through our innovation approach. 
Next, we tested these six steps in an ‘innovation project’ to 
make sure they work in practice.

Our first innovation project – the Non-Dispensing 
Community Pharmacist Project – served a dual 
purpose:

1. �To undertake a pilot project that builds a sustainable 
model for a non-dispensing pharmacist, which 
improves health outcomes of people at risk of 
medication misadventure. 

2. �To test the application and viability of the six-step 
innovation process. 

 
Embracing research to drive improvements 

At Latrobe Community Health Service, we pride ourselves  
on delivering services that are evidence-based and  
outcomes-focused. Research opportunities are therefore an 
integral part of our organisation. We support research that 
informs our practice, and that has the potential to deliver better 
health outcomes for our clients.

Our Latrobe Valley community-based occupational therapy team 
experienced increased demand for services, which was leading 
to longer waiting times. In response, our occupational therapists 
and allied health assistants developed a Basic Assessment Model 
(BAM). 

BAM is a pre-screening tool that allied health assistants use 
when supporting non-complex clients. Under the new model, 
our allied health assistant completes the following tasks:

• screening assessments when booking appointments

• additional equipment trials

• monitoring home modifications

• �checking in on clients after they receive new equipment or a 
home modification

•� �closing client files when all their goals are achieved (as 
directed by the occupational therapist).

Using BAM, our allied health assistant collects initial background 
information and identifies any basic equipment the client might 
need. The occupational therapist then takes this equipment 
and completes home modification diagrams that are sighted 
and approved by clients during home visits. This ensures timely 
interventions and modifications are made while potentially 
eliminating the need for more visits. Another benefit is that 
occupational therapists can spend more time with people with 
more complex needs.

We undertook a quantitative comparative study pre- and  
post-implementation of BAM to understand whether BAM led 
to shorter waiting times for occupational therapy. 

Researchers found:

• �There was a significant decrease in the waiting time for 
occupational therapy after BAM was implemented.

• �We completed more occupational therapy assessments under 
the new model.

The BAM is now fully integrated into Latrobe Community Health 
Service’s community-based occupational therapy service in the 
Latrobe Valley. Our research was published in the Australian 
Journal of Rural Health in November 2021.

People at risk of falls benefit from new 
integrated model of care

In another effort to reduce waiting times for occupational 
therapy, our occupational therapists, care coordinators and 
physiotherapists teamed up to develop an integrated model of 
care.

People often need occupational therapy to make their home 
safer, to complete tasks independently, and to prevent falls and 
balance-related problems. 

Previously, our occupational therapists screened and triaged 
all referrals. We then sent clients a waitlist letter, and our 
occupational therapists would work through the list. This 
approach made it difficult to see people as soon as possible, 
particularly because screening, assessments and interventions 
were the responsibility of occupational therapists.

A working group developed a new model of care, which allows 
physiotherapists and care coordinators to complete functional 
assessments of people with falls and balance issues, and 
provide the results to the occupational therapists. Occupational 
therapists use this information to prescribe specific interventions 
and visit clients at home if necessary. Our physiotherapists 
can provide physiotherapy in the meantime, and our care 
coordinators can refer clients to other services that may be 
beneficial.

We have experienced the following benefits:

• �People are seen sooner, and do not feel forgotten.

• �Our clients receive a more comprehensive review of 
their falls or balance issues.

• �Care coordination allows identification and referral to 
other services, providing holistic care.

• �Our occupational therapists spend less time on 
administrative tasks, and more time on service delivery.

• �Clients can see a physiotherapist and occupational 
therapist in parallel, instead of one service after the 
other.

• �Our waitlist is decreasing, creating less pressure on staff.

S
T

R
A

T
E

G
IC

 P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 T
H

R
E

E



56  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22

Pilot program helps more people quit or cut 
back on smoking

In July 2021, Latrobe Community Health Service established 
a pilot smoking support program in partnership with the 
Gippsland Primary Health Network. Co-designed with 
community members and delivered by a multidisciplinary team, 

the Latrobe Smoking Support Service aimed to help Latrobe 
Valley residents cut back or quit smoking. 

We recruited a nurse practitioner, counsellor, project 
coordinator, and peer support worker. Through the program, 
people had access to free health assessments, nicotine 
replacement therapy, counselling, and peer support. This 
multidisciplinary approach meant people could choose what 
kind of help they wanted. For example, one person might need 
counselling, peer support, and nicotine replacement therapy, 
whereas someone else might just need peer support. 

We delivered the Latrobe Smoking Support Service between 
September 2021 and May 2022. We provided 432 episodes of 
care to 117 people. Seventy-one clients returned for three to 
four visits, and over a six-week period there were 985 fewer 
cigarettes smoked in Latrobe Valley as a result of our support.  

The pilot program formed part of a larger smoking cessation 
project in the Latrobe Valley, which the Collaborative Evaluation 
and Research Group from Federation University Gippsland 
evaluated. Researchers noted the Latrobe Smoking Support 
Service was able to break down barriers for people accessing 
services, and increase support for smoking cessation. One of the 
program’s key successes was its focus on reduction as an option 
or step towards quitting. 

Researchers described the Latrobe Smoking Support Service as 
the most successful activity of the broader smoking cessation 
project.

Innovation in practice at the Gippsland 
Pharmacotherapy Network

Latrobe Community Health Service runs the Gippsland 
Pharmacotherapy Network, which was created to improve 
the health and wellbeing of people with opioid use disorder. 
The network aims to reduce drug-related harm, and increase 
access to services by advocating for people and reducing the 
stigma associated with their drug use. We work one-on-one 
with people. We also work alongside service providers to 
ensure there are sustainable referral pathways and genuine 
collaboration between community-based and specialist 
pharmacotherapy providers. 

Doctors and nurse practitioners prescribe pharmacotherapy 
medications to treat opioid use disorder. These are administered 
in a community pharmacy. Clients must present to the pharmacy 
up to seven times a week and pay $5 a day for the medication, 
placing a considerable burden on their time and finances. 

Integrated model of care in 
the spotlight

Our occupational therapist identified a client 
waiting for ramp access at home who might be 
suitable for an interdisciplinary assessment. Our 
physiotherapist discovered the woman had a 
history of falls and near misses in the garden. 

We arranged a four-wheeled walker for the client to 
use in the garden, and prescribed some strengthening 
exercises. Our occupational therapist completed a 
home assessment later on, and the woman now has 
ramp access at home. Our client says the walker is 
helpful, and she feels much safer.

During another interdisciplinary assessment with 
a woman waiting for front access and bathroom 
rails, our physiotherapist discovered she needed 
help with a range of other issues. We referred her 
to our community pharmacist, diabetes clinic and 
continence nurse. We also encouraged her to visit her 
optometrist for a review. Her occupational therapy 
home visit has now been completed, and we are 
planning to modify her home with a front step and 
bathroom rails.

Twenty-one people stopped 
smoking completely, and 67 
people reduced the amount 
they smoked each day.
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But in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, a new treatment 
was fast-tracked for approval in Australia. This is called the  
long-acting injectable buprenorphine (LAIB) depot injection. 
Administered only once a month, and costing between $20 and 
$30, the injection provides a huge time and cost benefit. 

A significant barrier is the pain associated with the injection. 
A nurse practitioner approached our team for support in 
conducting a research project on the use of numbing patches 
when administering this injection. The nurse practitioner 
wanted to investigate whether the patches would improve 
client retention in treatment, and reduce their pain. Our 
Placement, Education and Research Officer connected the nurse 
practitioner to Federation University academics, via the Latrobe 
Community Health Service Research Council. The Gippsland 
Pharmacotherapy Network has also received Department of 
Health approval to fund and support this research. 

Community paramedics complement our 
nursing workforce 

A growing ageing population, prevalence of chronic disease, 
and shortage of healthcare workers present challenges for 
Australia’s healthcare system. At Latrobe Community Health 
Service, we have been investigating how we can address these 
challenges to ensure no one misses out on essential healthcare.

There is growing evidence that community paramedicine can 
complement community health workforces; paramedics are 
skilled in emergency care, and they also have the knowledge 
and skills required to deliver effective primary care, such as 
nursing services.

We met with the Department of Paramedicine at Monash 
University, and the Chief Paramedic Officer of Victoria, to 
understand how community paramedics can complement our 
workforce. Our ultimate aim is to build our workforce capacity 
to ensure we provide continuity of services in the communities 
we serve.

In 2021-22, we employed four community paramedics in 
Gippsland. The paramedics joined our Integrated Primary Health 
Services teams, and work a five-day work week from Monday 
to Friday. We plan on starting a seven-day roster that includes 
morning, afternoon, and on-call shifts.

Our community paramedics provide health assessments, care 
planning, and direct care for our home nursing and palliative 
care clients. Medication supervision and administration, catheter 
care, wound care, and health education and promotion are 
among the activities they perform, in partnership with other 
health clinicians at Latrobe Community Health Service.

The community paramedic workforce is the first of its kind at 
Latrobe Community Health Service. We are working alongside 
our paramedics, other staff, and clients to understand where 
there are other opportunities to grow and introduce new roles.

Promoting the safety of women  
and children

Our team that works to address family violence in Gippsland 
and the City of Monash continues to grow. Latrobe Community 
Health Service is a partner organisation delivering the Orange 
Door in Inner and Outer Gippsland. We also deliver family 
violence intervention services in Clayton, a suburb in the City of 
Monash.

The Inner Gippsland Orange Door opened in Morwell in 
November 2018; here we partner with Anglicare Victoria, 
Quantum Support Services, Child Protection, The Salvation Army 
Leongatha, and the Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency 
to deliver a multi-service hub where women, children, and 
men receive specialist family violence services. In 2021-22, we 
celebrated the opening of the Outer Gippsland Orange Door 
hub in Bairnsdale, where we play a similar role in providing 
intake and assessment services for men who use violence 
against women and children. Our partner organisations here are 
Uniting, Quantum, Gippsland Lakes Complete Health, Yoowinna 
Wurnalung Aboriginal Healing Service, and Child Protection.

In 2021-22, we continued to deliver Men’s Behaviour Change 
group sessions across the Wellington, Latrobe, Baw Baw 
and Monash local government areas. We have four pairs of 
facilitators – more than ever before – who delivered seven 
groups in the past financial year. We have also introduced a new 
case management service for family violence perpetrators in 
Inner Gippsland. Our case manager helps men who have used 
family violence to access the Men’s Behaviour Change Program, 
mental health services, treatment for alcohol and other drugs 
use, housing, and funding for things like dental services.

This year, we also piloted a new ‘post participation support’ 
program for men who complete the 20-week Men’s Behaviour 
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Change Program. Aimed at encouraging men’s ongoing 
engagement in services and promoting the safety of women 
and children, we started providing one-on-one support and 
more group sessions for male perpetrators. Our hope is these 
men continue to make positive changes in their behaviour. We 
have received funding for the next two years to deliver this 
program.

While our team grows, a core group of staff – who are  
long-serving and experienced team members – create 
consistency among our team. This ensures we continue to 
deliver quality outcomes for men, women, and children as our 
services expand.

Increasing social connection through 
technology

Our planned activity groups in Melbourne moved to an online 
delivery mode in response to COVID-19 lockdowns. However, it 
was evident many people who would normally attend our face-
to-face groups weren’t able to attend online. This was because 
they either didn’t have a suitable device or had limited access to 
the internet.

We obtained a grant, which we used to buy tablets for client 
use. We recognised tablets were new and confusing for most 
clients, and so we worked to educate and introduce our clients 
to the use of these devices. Our clients could then access the 
weekly group sessions online and in their own home. Activities 
included gentle exercise, craft, guest speakers, mentally-
stimulating activities, and discussions, which enabled people to 
stay socially connected during an otherwise isolating period.

One client was advised to isolate due to low immunity, and 
exercise regularly to stay healthy. They became increasingly 
isolated and no longer felt motivated to exercise. When we 
sourced the tablets and showed the client how to use them, 
they started attending our planned activity groups every week. 
They regularly engaged in the group discussions, and started 
exercising again.

Our online groups gave our clients a safe community to learn 
new skills and connect with others. 
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Continued support online for pregnant women 
with gestational diabetes 

In response to the growing number of pregnant women being 
diagnosed with gestational diabetes in the City of Monash, we 
teamed up with Monash Health to deliver an interdisciplinary 
model of care. 

Together, a team of endocrinologists from Monash Health and 
a diabetes nurse educator, dietitian and allied health assistant 
from our organisation help pregnant women manage their 
diabetes.

The program sees pregnant women newly-diagnosed 
with diabetes receive face-to-face appointments at the 
interdisciplinary clinic, held at our Clayton site. 

The clinic includes:

• �Individual consultations with a Monash Health endocrinologist, 
followed by an educational group session with the diabetes 
nurse educator and dietitian.

• �A weekly follow-up appointment with the endocrinologist 
and / or diabetes nurse educator to help manage things like 
insulin.

The clinic takes the pressure off the public hospital system, 
and ensures women with gestational diabetes access timely 
appointments, care and education. But, during COVID-19 
lockdowns, face-to-face clinics were not possible.

In 2021, we adapted our delivery model to ensure mothers 
and their babies continued to receive the timely care they need 
without exposing them to COVID-19. 
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We have:

• �Delivered online educational sessions, which our diabetes 
nurse educator and dietitian facilitated with administration 
support from our allied health assistant. 

• �Arranged reviews with Monash Health’s endocrinologist via 
telehealth.

Since beginning this collaborative program, we have received 
more referrals from Monash Health for a range of other services 
we offer. We have also received referrals to support women and 
their families post-birth.

Place-based nutrition education for  
a Chinese-speaking community

Our paediatric dietitian is educating Chinese-speaking parents 
and carers about children’s nutrition – where they already meet.

The coordinator of a Chinese family support group invited our 
dietitian to attend two playgroup sessions in Mulgrave and 
Clayton, to provide basic nutrition information and answer the 
carers’ questions.

After attending the playgroup in Term Two 2022,  
we recognised:

• ��Many carers have growth and nutrition concerns about their 
child, but don’t know where to go for help.

• �This community can speak Chinese only.

• �Many of the carers can’t drive, so travelling to a health centre 
is a challenge.

More than 20 parents and carers attended the initial sessions, 
with many sharing they learnt new strategies that helped them 
feed their babies and toddlers in a healthy way.

In response, we have arranged regular visits – every term our 
dietitian will attend the playgroup to help parents and carers 
learn about children’s nutrition, and connect them with other 
helpful services.

More than 20 parents 
and carers attended the 
nutrition education sessions.

Dietetics education for disadvantaged young people 

We are giving young people the knowledge and skills 
to make better food choices and establish healthier 
eating habits.

A dietitian is visiting a supported residential facility in Greater 
Dandenong every month, to talk all things food with young 
people aged 16-25 who are recovering from mental health 
issues.

“The residential service manager reached out to our dental 
team during their outreach visit, expressing concerns about 
residents’ eating habits,” Integrated Primary Health Service 
Manager Jing Yang says.

“Our dental team passed on the request to our dietitian, 
who conducted a needs assessment. The needs assessment 
looked at the residents’ perceived quality of their current 
diets, healthy eating knowledge, and areas they would like 
to learn more about. 

“The completed surveys highlighted the residents’ current 
habits and knowledge, along with an interest in learning 
about healthy eating, so our dietitian started planning a 
place-based education program.”

We designed an education session, followed by a cooking 
session, to provide a hands-on learning experience. 

Our overall aim is to address the gap in basic food 
knowledge and food preparation skills that exists in this 
group of young people.

Before the end of June 2022, we conducted three sessions 
at the facility, and have received positive feedback. Residents 
are engaging in discussions and contributing to ideas for 
future topics. We will visit the facility every month.
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Strategic priority four
Use evidence-based outcomes to drive improvement  
across services.

GOALS:

n �Develop the capability to measure client and organisational outcomes

Health services have traditionally focused 
on outputs. 

How many clients did we see today? How many 
episodes of care did we deliver? How many new 
appointments have we booked?

This is the information we have always collected, 
because it helps us and our funding bodies plan our 
workforce and deliver services that meet or exceed 
community expectations.

But for a for-purpose organisation that aims to 
improve the health and wellbeing of Australians, 
there are greater opportunities.

When developing the 2017-2022 strategic plan, 
we set out to measure outcomes. Measuring 
outcomes tells us whether the services we provide 
have a genuine impact on the people we support. 
Have we helped our clients improve their mental 
wellbeing? Did the equipment we prescribed help 
that person safely get in and out of bed? Is that 
person functioning better after we co-designed and 
delivered their care plan?

By measuring outcomes (as well as outputs), 
we are better able to understand the strengths 
of our services as well as identify improvement 
opportunities.

Since 2017-18, we have:

n �Employed a Research and Evaluation Officer to 
lead this work.

n �Agreed on five outcomes our organisation will 
measure consistently across our services.

n �Set up the required software and procedures. 

n �Started trialling the measurement of client 
outcomes across different services.

n �Started measuring all five outcomes across  
15 services.
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Measuring outcomes to understand  
our impact

Latrobe Community Health Service – like most health services – 
compiles a lot of information to measure our work. This includes 
things like how many appointments we offer, and what type of 
treatments we provide.

This information helps us plan for the future. It tells us which 
services are in demand, and where we might improve. But one 
thing is missing: it doesn’t tell us whether our clients believe we 
actually improved their health. That’s why we’re adding a new 
measure: client health outcomes.

We are now following up after appointments to ask some 
simple questions, such as: did we help to improve your health? 
Do you feel better than you did before?

Crocheting helps Cherie cut back on cigarettes 

The 95 hours Cherie spent crocheting a beautiful quilt 
were 95 hours she didn’t spend smoking.

Working with Latrobe Community Health Service, Cherie 
has cut back on her smoking habits by more than half, and 
she’s feeling fantastic.

“This is the best I have felt in a long time,” Cherie says.

Cherie was smoking about 40 cigarettes a day and “not 
in a million years” did she think she could cut that figure 
down.

It was a trip to the dental team at Latrobe Community 
Health Service that changed her mindset.

“I was having trouble with my teeth and I had a dental 
appointment, and they decided to do a breathing test on 
me,” she says.

“My lung function came back at 38 percent. They told me 
the respiratory educator could help me. I was very hesitant 
at first, but I’m really glad I went along.”

Latrobe Community Health Service employs oral health 
educators who help people change their lifestyle to 
improve their health and wellbeing.

The dental team works collaboratively with other programs 
across Latrobe Community Health Service, including a 
respiratory educator.

“We have offered smoking cessation for well over a decade 
now,” Respiratory Educator Karyn Thomas says.

“The first questions we ask clients are about motivation, 
confidence to quit or reduce, and the reasons why they 
want to undertake this journey. Cherie wasn’t confident 
she could stop altogether, but wanted to reduce the 
number she was having, to improve her health and general 
wellbeing.”

Karyn first asked Cherie to write down whenever she had 
a cigarette, and why. She then asked Cherie what else she 
could do with her hands.

“When you start writing down when you’re having a 
cigarette, it gives you an eye opener of what your triggers 
are, and you learn a new coping mechanism,” Cherie says.

“I learnt I can extend that smoke for another hour and (do 
something else). Karyn asked if I did craft, and I said I love 
crocheting. So I have been putting off having a cigarette by 
sitting down, and crocheting and relaxing. It does take your 
mind off the craving.”

Cherie says the dental team “saved my life in a way”. She’s 
not out of breath, she’s walking around a lot easier, and 
she’s full of energy.

“I’d still be smoking in the house, 40 cigarettes a day. I’m 
forever grateful for that nurse (oral health educator) giving 
me that breathing test and making me realise if I continued 
I wouldn’t be around much longer,” Cherie says.

“I’m just on this cloud nine being able to share my story. I 
hope it inspires others.”



LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  65

Whether it’s aged care, counselling, dental, or one of our many 
other services, we want to build a picture of what’s working – 
and what’s not – so we can focus on effective care.

That’s why we are measuring client health outcomes 
in five different areas:

1. improved or maintained physical health

2. improved or maintained mental health

3. �improved or maintained social connection or 
participation

4. improved or maintained functioning

5. achievement of client’s or participant’s goals

What we’ve done:

Taking a staged approach, we trialled the measurement of client 
outcomes in at least one area (such as mental health) across 
different services in 2020-21. In 2021-22, we continued to 
expand our approach. 

There are now 15 programs measuring client outcomes in all 
five domains. 

We have collected enough data to analyse and understand our 
impact in three areas: mental health, improvement in 

functioning, and achievement of goals. We expect to gain 
sufficient data on social connection and physical health when 
more programs begin measuring client outcomes in these areas.

 

In 2021-22*:

• ��89 percent of clients improved or maintained their 
mental health

• ��88 percent of clients improved or maintained their 
functioning

• ��73 percent of clients achieved at least one goal

*This data is aggregated from 13 participating programs 
(not every Latrobe Community Health Service client is 
represented).

Next steps

We are building a public dashboard on the Latrobe Community 
Health Service website where our clients and the community 
can view our client outcomes data. The dashboard is part of our 
commitment to transparency and continuous improvement; we 
own what we do, and we continually improve the way we do 
things.
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As we continue to expand our outcomes data collection across 
remaining services, we are also exploring how we can improve 
the data collection process. At the moment, we rely on staff to 
ask the question and input the data. We are keen to try other 
ways, such as client-led data collection or the use of technology 
to streamline the process. 

Finally, once we are measuring client outcomes consistently 
across Latrobe Community Health Service, we will use this data 
to drive improvement in our services. 

Some programs are already doing this on a small scale;  
this aggregated data will help us identify improvement 
opportunities at a high-level, service-specific-level,  
and individualised-level.

Health services have traditionally focused 
on outputs. How many clients did we see 
today? How many episodes of care did we 
deliver? How many new appointments 
have we booked?

This is the information we have always collected, 
because it helps us and our funding bodies plan our 
workforce and deliver services that meet or exceed 
community expectations.

But for a for-purpose organisation that aims to 
improve the health and wellbeing of Australians, 
there are greater opportunities.

When developing the 2017-2022 strategic plan, 
we set out to measure outcomes. Measuring 
outcomes tells us whether the services we provide 
have a genuine impact on the people we support. 
Have we helped our clients improve their mental 
wellbeing? Did the equipment we prescribed help 
that person safely get in and out of bed? Is that 
person functioning better after we co-designed and 
delivered their care plan?

By measuring outcomes (as well as outputs), 
we are better able to understand the strengths 
of our services as well as identify improvement 
opportunities.

Since 2017-18, we have:

n �Employed a Research and Evaluation Officer to 
lead this work.

n �Agreed on five outcomes our organisation will 
measure consistently across our services.

n �Set up the required software and procedures. 

n �Started trialling the measurement of client 
outcomes across different services.

n �Started measuring all five outcomes across 15 
services.

Client outcomes in the spotlight

When we first meet NDIS participants, we ask: ‘what is 
important to you’, and ‘what would you like to be able to do 
or continue doing?’ We work with people as they set their 
goals, and then we build a plan that helps them achieve 
those goals. Being able to measure whether a participant 
has achieved their goals or not has led to new training 
opportunities for our staff. We now train our staff on how to 
develop SMART goals with participants to ensure their goals 
are specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timely. 
More than 75 percent of NDIS participants older than seven 
are achieving the goals they set. We will continue running 
refresher training for staff, so participants continue to 
achieve and celebrate genuine outcomes.

And in the early childhood space, we’ve been able to achieve 
similar success. On average, 86 percent of families with 
children younger than seven agree the services we link them 
into, along with their NDIS plans, are helping them achieve 
their goals. 

Our Latrobe Valley Children’s Service started measuring client 
outcomes in 2021-22, and specifically focused on whether 
children were achieving their goals. The team works with 
children aged 0-7 with mild-to-moderate developmental 
delay. Using an ‘early intervention’ approach, the team 
delivers different types of therapy to help children improve 
their fine or gross motor skills, speech, sensory-processing, 
and / or communication. Our Children’s Service reviews each 
child’s goals three months post therapy, to make sure the 
interventions we delivered are working. We also review the 
service’s outcomes data during team meetings to celebrate 
successes and identify improvements.

headspace Morwell uses The Kessler 10 (K10), and Social 
and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scales (SOFAS), 
to measure client outcomes. The K10 is self-reported at 
key intervals throughout a young person’s episode of care. 
It assesses how clients have been feeling over the previous 

four weeks in ten key areas. The SOFAS assesses a person’s 
current functioning, using a rating range of between 1 
and 100. headspace staff measure client functioning using 
SOFAS at each occasion of service. We use this information 
to better support our young people when we are assessing 
their wellbeing, identifying personal goals, and planning 
treatment. This data can tell us over time if our young people 
are feeling more positive and hopeful, and whether their 
functioning has improved. Our 2021-22 aggregated data 
(up to March 2022) shows a reduction in our clients’ distress 
levels, and their functioning* has remained stable. 

*Note: consideration of statewide lockdowns and its impact 
on a young person’s ability to improve functioning (i.e. their 
participation in school and extracurricular activities) needs to 
be taken into account.
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Volunteers
From driving Gippsland residents to and from medical appointments, 
to sewing ‘buddy bears’ for children who are nervous about seeing a 
doctor or dentist – volunteers are well and truly an integral part of our 
organisation.

Our first volunteers joined Latrobe 
Community Health Service in 1979, 
when community day centres (known as 
friendship groups and later social support 
groups) began in the Latrobe Valley. 

Friendship groups were designed to increase social 
connectedness, and volunteers would prepare meals 
and help participants do different activities.

We still rely on volunteers in our social support group 
programs to this day. Our volunteers also take on the 
roles of:

n ��Transport driver - taking people to and from their 
medical appointments

n �Bus jockey - helping clients get on and off a shuttle 
bus, to and from planned activities

n �Meal server - preparing and serving meals 

n �Activity assistant - helping clients participate in 
crafts and games

n �Sewist - sewing buddy bears that are gifted to 
children when seeing the doctor or dentist

n �Simulated patient - acting as a client to help train 
student medical professionals

n �Administration assistant - helping with filing, data 
entry, mail-outs

n �Community visitor - visit people who live in aged 
care facilities and provide companionship

n �Pet carer - help older people take care of their pets

Between 2017-18 and 2021-22, our 
volunteers have contributed:

n �91,280 hours of service

n �$3.6 million value to our organisation

Volunteer  
hours
14,063

Active  
volunteers 
147

Monetary value to 
organisation 

$570,957
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Perseverance comes to mind when 
we think of the past 12 months in the 
volunteering sector

Many of our volunteers have been with us throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Together we have experienced major 
changes and regulations we never previously imagined 
possible. Like all of us, our volunteers adapted to evolving 
mandates and health recommendations. And throughout the 
challenges of COVID-19, they continued to turn up to keep 
everyone safe and to help our clients receive the services they 
need.

Where possible throughout the past 12 months, our 
volunteers have continued to transport clients to and from 
appointments and visit vulnerable residents. We also started 
providing virtual services, such as Facetime or Zoom catch-ups 
in vulnerable settings. This connection has proven vital – both 
for volunteers and for clients alike. 

Our volunteer numbers reduced significantly over the past 
18 months – many former volunteers are spending their time 
travelling or with family. Others are focusing on their own 
health, and some are simply fatigued. We will continue to 
experience the ebbs and flows of volunteering for a while 
yet; there has been a 50.2 percent decline in volunteering 
participation across Victoria. 

However, as many services recommence, we expect there will 
be more and more opportunities for volunteer involvement. 
Next year, our focus is on rebuilding our volunteer program, 
and on increasing collaboration between staff, volunteers, and 
clients. 

In 2021-22, our 147 active volunteers 
delivered:

• ��14,063 hours of service

• ��$570,957 value to our organisation

When Angel Fan began 
volunteering with Latrobe 
Community Health Service in 
December 2021, she had two 
goals in mind.

“To meet new friends and to put myself in others’ 
shoes,” the volunteer community visitor says.

With more free time during the pandemic, and as someone 
who enjoys hearing stories from others, Angel thought 
becoming a community visitor was the perfect fit. 

Volunteer community visitors enrich the lives of people who 
live in Commonwealth-funded aged care homes in the City 
of Monash. 

Volunteers visit residents twice a month, both virtually – over 
Skype, FaceTime, letters or phone calls – and face-to-face 
when it’s safe to do so. 

“Being a volunteer means I am capable of giving something 
to others,” Angel says.

“I feel being a volunteer is satisfying. I also did not think that 
a visit can make someone happy, but it actually does.”

Angel visits Joan and Helen every fortnight, starting each visit 
with some small talk and a catch-up. Some days, they might 
do some arts and craft together, while others are simply 
spent chatting.

“When I first met Joan, she was so shy (but) after a few 
sessions, she remembered me and welcomed me on my 
visits,” Angel says.

“Recently, we started to talk about hobbies and she stated 
she used to crochet. On the following visit, I brought her 
some yarn and a crochet tool and she was happy to do that. 
I am so happy that we are bonding and she is willing to 
maintain our friendship.”

They continue to turn up to 
keep everyone safe and to 
help our clients receive the 
services they need.
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When Laura Salembier 
considered volunteering for 
Latrobe Community Health 
Service, she realised there was 
nothing holding her back.
“I just thought, ‘why not?’” Laura says.

“There wasn’t ever a thought about why I shouldn’t do it; I 
just knew I wanted to.”

Laura started volunteering as a community visitor in October 
2021, at a time she was feeling very isolated herself after 
nearly two years of lockdown.

“I had moved from interstate to Melbourne before the 
lockdown happened, so I also didn’t know many people,” 
she says.

“I liked the idea of interacting with someone new. I knew 
it would have been very hard in the aged care homes, and I 
thought it (volunteering) would also be a good way to use 
my time and help others.”

When Laura visits her resident, Trixie, she makes a day of it 
by also visiting family nearby and getting some tasks done in 
the same neighbourhood.

“Each encounter has been wonderful, and they always leave 
me feeling really happy, as I can see how happy Trixie is,” 
she says.

“For anyone who is thinking about volunteering, I’d just ask, 
why wouldn’t you do it?”

Volunteering as a medical 
transport driver has helped  
Sigrid Wilson feel connected  
to her community.

The registered paramedic started volunteering with 
Latrobe Community Health Service when she was in her 
final year of university.

Keen to learn more about the health and community 
services available across Gippsland, Sigrid put her hand up to 
drive clients to and from appointments.

And while she has learnt about the services available, it’s the 
people she’s met and the places she’s driven that have kept 
her coming back.

Once a week, Sigrid picks up a pool car from the Warragul 
site, close to where she lives, and heads off to take people 
to their appointments at hospitals, allied health services, and 
specialists.

She has travelled to Cowes, Koonwarra, Nyora, Leongatha, 
and Korumburra – among other places – and learnt about 
popular local destinations and the history of the area along 
the way.

“On Phillip Island, a client told me these little towers I 
noticed were kilns for drying chicory, because in World War 
II, Australia was short of coffee so they replaced it with 
chicory, which was easy to grow on Phillip Island,” she says.

“It’s the history and little things you see along the way when 
you’re driving people, like beautiful scenery, that make it 
very enjoyable. It’s so easy to make conversation – I have 
witnessed firsthand how conversation and a scenic drive 
help take people’s minds off their illness, and help them to 
relax before their appointment.”



                                                                                                                                                                                 Latrobe Community Health Service Annual Report  2018   72

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 	 73

Statement of Financial Position 					     74

Statement of Changes in Equity 					     75

Statement of Cash Flows 						      76

Notes to the Financial Statements 					     77

Directors’ Declaration 							      93

Independent Auditor’s Report 						     94

Operating  
& financial  
review
Financial report for the year ended
30 June 2022



73

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  7473  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



75

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  7675  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



77

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  7877  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



79

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  8079  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



81

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  8281  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



83

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  8483  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



85

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  8685  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



87

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  8887  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



89

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  9089  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



91

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  9291  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



93

LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22  9493  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



95

95  LATROBE COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICE Annual Report 2021-22



1800 242 696 • www.lchs.com.au

Latrobe Community Health Service ABN: 74 136 502 022


